

# W&M ScholarWorks

Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

1988

# Career patterns of collegiate administrators in Virginia

Hugh Carrington Rowland College of William & Mary - School of Education

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/etd

Part of the Higher Education Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Rowland, Hugh Carrington, "Career patterns of collegiate administrators in Virginia" (1988). *Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects*. William & Mary. Paper 1539618489. https://dx.doi.org/doi:10.25774/w4-tws1-vg44

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

## INFORMATION TO USERS

The most advanced technology has been used to photograph and reproduce this manuscript from the microfilm master. UMI films the original text directly from the copy submitted. Thus, some dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from a computer printer.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyrighted material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each oversize page is available as one exposure on a standard 35 mm slide or as a  $17" \times 23"$  black and white photographic print for an additional charge.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. 35 mm slides or  $6" \times 9"$  black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.



300 North Zeeb Hoad, Ann Arbor, MI 48106, 1346 USA

Order Number 8813505

## Career patterns of collegiate administrators in Virginia

Rowland, Hugh Carrington, Ed.D. The College of William and Mary, 1988

> U·M·I 300 N. Zeeb Rd. Ann Aibor, MI 48106

# CAREER PATTERNS OF COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATORS

## IN VIRGINIA

\_\_\_ .....\_.

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the School of Education The College of William and Mary in Virginia

In Partial Fulfillment

\_\_\_\_\_\_

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

ъу

Hugh Carrington Rowland

December 1987

# CAREER PATTERNS OF COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATORS

by

Hugh Carrington Rowland

\_\_\_\_\_

\_ ..... . . . \_ \_ \_ \_ ... \_ \_

Approved December 1987 by

Jama ejan Konil

James Yankovich, Ed.D.

William F Lonto

William Losito, Ph.D.

Thi

John Thelin, Ph.D. Chairman of Doctoral Committee

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
LIST OF	FIGURES	5
Chapter		
1.	INTRODUCTION	6
	Statement of the Problem	8
	Justification of the Study	16
	Theoretical Framework	22
	Definition of Terms	34
	Research Hypotheses	36
2.	REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	37
	Academic Administrator Career Characteristics	39
	Non-Academic Administrator Career Characteristics	49
	Methodological Issues	55
3.	METHODOLOGY	60
	Target Population and Data Gathering Procedures	60
	Limitations	62
	Procedures	64
	Instrumentation	68
		- ·
4.	RESULTS	74
	Results of Q Sort Procedure	76

Permeability Analysis	81
External Sources of Permeability	82
Internal Sources of Permeability	83
Sources of Career Disruption	99
Other Interpretations	104
Non-Categorized Positions	104
Collegiate Faculty and Department Chairpersons	107
Non-Collegiate Teachers and School Personnel	111
5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	113
Q Sort Procedure	116
Career Field Characteristics	122
Limitations	125
Theoretical and Practical Implications	129
Appendix A: Q Sort Results for Dualism Model	132
Appendix B: Q Sort Results for Mintzberg Model	145
Appendix C: Q Sort Results for CUPA Model	157
REFERENCES	170
VITA	177
ABSTRACT	178

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	able :	
1.	Aggregation of Career Positions Held By All Respondents	85
2.	External Permeability: Non-Collegiate Sources	88
з.	External Permeability: Collegiate Non-Administrative Sources	89
4.	In-Line/In-Field for All Career Positions	94
5.	After Sources of Internal Permeability Removed: In-Line and In-Field Positions Contrasted With Total Collegiate Administrative Positions	95
6.	Collegiate Administrative Positions In-Line and In-Field	98
7.	Incidence of Non-Collegiate Administrative Positions Intervening in Collegiate Careers	100
8.	Non-Collegiate Sources of Career Disruption	102
9.	Collegiate Faculty Source of Career Disruption	103
10.	Collegiate Non-Career Field Positions	106
11.	Combined Collegiate Administrative and Department Chairpersons	109
12.	Total Collegiate Administrators, Department Chairpersons, and Faculty Related Positions	110
13.	All Education Related Positions (Including Teachers)	112

#### INTRODUCTION

As modern colleges and universities have increased in size and complexity, the number of activities requiring experienced administrators has increased dramatically. Harris (1972) reports that between 1927 and the mid 1960's expenditures for administration increased 21 times. Martin (1974) found that the period between the mid 1960's and the early 1970's, the current fund expenditures for administration increased more than 30% contrasted with just a 10% increase for instruction.

During the twentieth century, a concomitant with these increases in the numbers and costs of administrators has been the evolution of areas of administrative specialization, coupled with what Jencks and Riesman (1968) have termed "professionalization." Early in this century many of the administrative functions were carried out by teaching faculty on a part-time basis (Angus, 1973). As the demands for administrative expertise and increases in workload made necessary full-time administrators, distinctive categories of administrators evolved. This evolution, which has been an on-going process that continues today,

manifested itself in a variety of formal and informal ways, including the development of career patterns.

Organizational theory has not kept pace with these evolving patterns and structures in higher education. Consequently, the conventional names that developed and that have been used to describe the patterns and structures, often are not adequate to describe the full complexity of academic organizations. This is true particularly in the area of collegiate administrators. Only a small amount of research has been devoted in the past to administrative positions, and that research tended to be limited to small groups of administrators, such as admissions officers or academic deans. Thus, little attention has been devoted to the development of better organizational theory relating to administrators.

Within the last decade, the developing lines of research in this area have begun to point out the inadequacy of our existing organizational concepts. This study will be an effort to explore the relationship of collegiate administrators career patterns to organizational structures within academic institutions. The study will introduce the concept of "career fields" as a new approach to the study of career patterns and will apply the concept to three organizational models.

## STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Until recently, the conventional understanding was that two general types of administrators had evolved, the academic and the non-academic administrators. The evolution of academic administrators as a distinctive entity, vis-'a-vis the academic faculty and the non-academic administrators, may be viewed as an outgrowth of two broader trends, the professionalization of the academic faculty and the managerial revolution. According to Jencks and Riesman (1968), the professionalization of academic faculty was one of the most important, if not the most important, force in the development of collegiate organizations in the United States. They define professionalization as the general trend over the past century in our society whereby particular occupational groups have sought the exclusive right of setting the conditions of work, standards for entrance into the profession, and the right to "...judge one another's mistakes" (p. 201).

The professionalization of academic faculty, and the resultant growth in the power of the collective faculty, had far reaching implications for the various organizational forms that evolved within academic

institutions. Academic departments, which had originally represented divisions of knowledge, became the fundamental organizational unit of academic organizations (Ikenberry, 1972). Further, the college presidency evolved differently than in the corporate world. Influenced by the managerial revolution, governing boards during the early decades of the twentieth century turned over substantial power to the college president and other professional administrators. However, the resulting configuration of power and authority was dissimilar from the hierarchical form that developed in industry and government. Rather, the college presidency and the line of administrators leading to the presidency came to be understood as representing the "true" middle management, the academic faculty (Jencks and Riesman, 1968, p. 17).

The academic administrators evolved as the group that was entrusted with matters central to the overall governance of institutions, particularly matters relating to the well-being of the strongest entity in academic institutions, the academic faculty. Norms developed to keep academic administrators, as a group, closely aligned with the academic teaching faculty in terms of values, career origins, and educational levels.

Hence, today most academic administrators will have been a teaching faculty member at some point and will have attained the terminal degree in his/her academic field. Contrasted with non-academic administrators, academic administrators tend to have less managerial experience; view their roles as caretakers for the faculty rather than as managers; and interpret their careers in terms of their faculty origins rather than their managerial roles (Scott, 1978).

By convention, the academic administrator category has come to be recognized as the line of administrators and their subordinates leading from the teaching faculty to the president. Most often this line includes the academic deans, the academic vice president, and the president, plus subordinates with the titles of associate or assistant. Department chairpersons are often excluded because they are seldom full-time administrators and because their roles tend to be more like the roles of teaching faculty than the roles of other types of administrators. Positions with special titles such as "assistant to" and "special assistant" are sometimes included and sometimes not included. The current study includes all of the above named positions, except department chairperson and president.

The general category of non-academic administrators appears to have been created out of convenience and convention. What was not considered an academic administrator position was categorized as non-academic administrator. Relative to their academic administrator counterparts, the non-academic administrator category evolved as a collection of functional specialization areas relatively unfettered by faculty norms. As the non-academic administrative specializations evolved, the people chosen as administrators tended to have origins, career experiences, and values that were wholly separate from the teaching faculty. Today, non-academic administrators generally have not served as teaching faculty and do not hold a terminal degree in a discipline. Contra academic administrators, nonacademic administrators tend to view their careers exclusively in terms of their managerial roles (Scott, 1978).

However, the conventional categorization of administrators into the academic/non-academic dualism may not be an adequate model for the study of collegiate administrators careers. The dualism recognizes primarily the fact that the academic administrator realm is all-but-inaccessible to non-academic administrators in terms of career movement. The big deficiency of the

dualism as a model for studying career patterns is that it treats the non-academic administrator category as an undifferentiated whole. It masks the diversity of career patterns within the non-academic realm.

Scott (1978) has observed that areas of specialization have developed within the non-academic realm that exhibit relatively well-defined career patterns. Specifically, nonacademic administrators tend to be hired on the basis of work experience in a particular area of specialization rather than on the basis of generyal administrative experience or formal training in management. Stated in terms of career patterns, the non-academic administrative realm does not appear to be a single entity (as the academic/non-academic dualism denotes). Due to this specialization, career mobility among the various non-academic specialization areas may be limited. Thus, the non-academic realm may be a mere collection of many career patterns that have evolved along with the development of the specialization areas. For example, it is very unlikely that a person whose work experience had been in student affairs would be chosen for an administrative position in the finance/budget areas.

The academic/non-academic dualism has remained largely unchallenged in previous research because most of the research studies has been limited in scope. Most of the career related research has focussed on academic administrators, particularly college presidents (Sagaria, 1983). Academic administrators, due to their close relationships with the academic faculty, have evolved career patterns that are relatively distinct and homogeneous; perhaps due to the career norms for academic administrators, particularly the prerequisites that the person hold a doctorate in a discipline and have college level teaching experience, few academic administrators are chosen from either the non-academic realm or from positions outside of higher education (Salimbene, 1982). The few career related studies of non-academic administrators have tended to limit their scope to a single area of administrative specialization, such as financial aid, admissions, student affairs, etc.

This study will address the general question of whether the non-academic administrators have developed distinct career patterns similar to the patterns exhibited by academic administrators. It will examine the academic/non-academic dualism plus two alternative

models relative to their suitability for studying career patterns among collegiate administrators.

The first alternative model was developed by the College and University Personnel Association (CUPA) to facilitate survey research on compensation and employment patterns of collegiate administrators in the United The CUPA model employs a five part categoriza-States, tion: (1) chief executive officers, (2) administrative affairs, (3) academic affairs, (4) student affairs, and (5) external affairs. Because college presidents were not included in this study, the CUPA category of chief executive officers will not be included in the CUPA Although the CUPA model is not theory based, it model. offers the potential for tying the findings from the current study to the extensive research findings of the three previous CUPA studies.

The second alternative model is a tripartite categorization developed by the organizational theorist, Henry Mintzberg. This categorization is part of a general organizational theory that is applicable to all types of organizations ranging from small, family operated businesses to complex research and development organizations. Within Mintzberg's model, administrators are categorized as (1) middle line administrators, (2)

support staff administrators, and (3) technocratic administrators. Middle line denotes all the academic administrators, except the president. The non-academic administrators are divided by Mintzberg into the support staff and the technocratic administrators (Mintzberg, 1979).

Mintzberg's model was not developed explicitly for the study of career patterns. However, as part of a general organizational theory, the model should have applicability beyond its formal structure aspects. The advantage of this model is that it links career patterns to formal structures within a large range of organiza~ tions, not just academic organizations.

#### JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY

Several changes in higher education over the past 15 years have brought attention to the career concerns of collegiate administrators. First, the era of unprecedented growth, public support, good economy and governmental assistance that was enjoyed in the quarter century after World War II has undergone radical reversal in the 1970's and 1980's. With these changes have come a shift in emphasis from support staff functions to fiscal management skills (Balderston, 1979; Gaff, Festa and Gaff, 1978; Mortimer and Tierney, 1979) and enforcement of personnel procedures (Scott, 1978).

Scott (1978a) has observed that federal government regulations that have been implemented since the early 1960's have brought about not only the creation of new administrative positions, but also a new type of administrator. Contrasted with the traditional type of non-academic administrators whose work activities tended to be primarily support services, the new type administrators tend to work in control oriented capacities, i.e. establishing operational policies, monitoring and controlling the activities of others. Whereas the work experience of traditional non-academic administrators

had generally been acquired on-the-job, the work experience of the new type administrators has tended to be in areas of private industry, particularly in the finance and personnel related areas. Some commentators have predicted that the austere conditions of the 1980's and 1990's will increase the need for more control oriented "financial technocrats" and cause decreases in student affairs administrators (Baldridge, 1978; Scott, 1978a). To date, the emergence of the more technically oriented administrators has not been incorporated into a comprehensive view of academic organizations.

Second, governmental emphasis on Affirmative Action has focussed attention on the hiring practices of institutions, particularly in relation to career opportunities for women and minorities. An obvious effect has been the development of the Affirmative Action Director position, a new administrative specialist whose primary functions are control oriented.

Less obvious but much more sweeping effects of Affirmative Action are the changes being wrought in the very nature of academic organizations and the way we study them. Stewart (1978) ventures that Affirmative Action is bringing about a new organizational paradigm. Traditional organizational theory with its search for

universal sets and constructs have masked the problem of gender (Stewart, 1978, p. 338), a point borne out by other researchers (Moore and Sagaria, 1982; Sagaria, 1983a; Sagaria and Moore, 1981). Of concern from an Affirmative Action perspective are the research findings that despite Affirmative Action the patterns of hiring continue to resemble traditional hiring practices (Hutchison and Johnson, 1980; Touchton and Shavlik, 1978) that women are more likely to be found in the middle and lower levels of collegiate administration (Digest of Educational Statistics, 1978; Howard, 1978; Mark, 1981; Van Alstyne, et al., 1977); that employment patterns vary by institutional type with the majority of male administrators concentrated in traditional minority institutions and women in traditional women's colleges (Van Alstyne, et al., 1977); that women and minorities are found concentrated in relatively few positions, primarily in the support staff area (Van Alstyne, et al., 1977); and that even in areas such as student affairs women tend to advance slower than their male counterparts (Holmes, 1982).

Third, administrators themselves have brought pressure to bear on institutions. According to Moore, the large group of administrators who invested in higher

education administration as a career profession during the period of growth of the 1960's and early 1970's now are pressing for clarification of career paths and "...order and system to replace idiosyncracy and intuition" (Moore, 1983, p.3). Moore (1983) suggests that these demands from administrators are part of the larger managerial revolution that higher education is undergoing.

Career concerns of college administrators have become the subject of an increasing number of studies. Few of these studies have been theory based. Most have been based on accounts of personal experience or on analyses of academic administrators, particularly the college presidency, from which generalizations about other administrators have been made (Moore, 1983; Moore and Sagaria, 1982; Moore, et al., 1983).

Until recently, it was generally assumed that the career patterns of academic administrators constituted a well-defined "career ladder", or "career trajectory", to the presidency (Cohen and March, 1974; Ferrari, 1970; Mark, 1981; Socolow, 1978). Recent studies have found substantial variation in the career patterns of presidents and academic deans, thereby raising serious doubt about the applicability of the career ladder, or

career trajectory, model for the study of academic administrator career patterns (Moore, et al., 1983; Salimbene, 1982).

Studies of non-academic administrators suggest not only that they are substantially different from their academic administrator counterparts (Scott, 1978), but that there are observable differences among the various non-academic administrative functions reflecting a growing recognition of specialization and competence therein (Bess and Lodahl, 1968; Scott, 1978). As yet, however, a comprehensive view capable of explaining similarities and differences among the various administrators' career patterns has not emerged (Moore, 1983).

The fundamental problem of developing such a comprehensive view is to determine how collegiate career patterns are organized. Put differently, what is an appropriate organizational model for studying career patterns?

The current study will contrast three organizational models (academic/non-academic dualism, Mintzberg's tripartite model, and CUPA's four part model) on the basis of the appropriateness of each model for studying career fields among collegiate administrators. To determine the appropriateness of a model, each

organizational part of the model shall be treated as a distinct career field. Career fields shall denote empirically observable regularities in the employment market of collegiate administrators that are measurable in terms of their impermeability. Impermeability shall be operationally defined as the degree to which the administrators' previous employment positions were in the same administrative area.

#### THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The concept of career field forms the theoretical framework for this study. The concept derives from three sources: Schein's concept of boundary properties of organizations as they relate to careers; Spilerman's concept of career trajectories, or career ladders; and Mintzberg's model of organizational structures.

### Schein's Boundary Permeability

Schein's theoretical treatment of organizational boundaries and career patterns provides a necessary conceptual link between the individual career pattern and the organization (Schein, 1971). Two types of boundaries, inclusion and functional, are cited by Schein as affecting individuals' career movements. Inclusion boundaries relate to the importance of individuals or groups to the central operations and central authority figures of the organization. Functional or departmental boundaries relate functional separation of groups to formal structure (Schein, 1971, pp.403-405).

Boundaries vary in their degree of permeability (or impermeability), their filtering properties, and the

number of boundaries. For instance, Schein notes the universities have a large number of highly impermeable functional boundaries due to the formal organizational structure of academic departments. Because faculty are organized by academic disciplines, there is little movement between academic departments and between academic schools. Similarly, the academic areas of universities tend to have highly impermeable external inclusion boundaries, i.e., boundaries that control the difficulty of initial entry into the organization (Schein, 1971).

### Spilerman's Career Trajectory

Spilerman generally conceives of a career trajectory as regularities in the job market that can be observed empirically. Specifically, career trajectory denotes "relatively stable labor market structures through which workers 'flow' " in linear sequences (Spilerman, 1977, p. 559). In this study, career ladder and career line are used synonymously with career trajectory. Spilerman notes that in some instances "a career line consists of a sequence of positions within a single firm through which a worker must progress in a rigid manner," whereas in other instances the traject-

ories are "less well delineated by institutional rules and may contain several entry-level positions as well as multiple departure points at alternative career lines" (Spilerman, 1977, p. 560).

## <u>Career Field</u>

In contradistinction to "career trajectory", this study will employ the broader concept of "career field." Career fields will denote an empirical regularity of hiring within an organizational area of administration but not necessarily a linear sequence of specific positions in the field. This less restrictive definition should allow for the observation of patterns that range from the relatively well defined career lines in academic administration to some of the less well defined career patterns in the non-academic administration areas.

Recent research on the career patterns of academic administrators points to the need for a broader concept than career trajectories. Hence, the derivation in this study of the concept of career field. The essential characteristics of the career trajectory concept were first employed in higher education research by Cohen and March (1974) in their study of college presidents. They

advanced the notion of a normative "career ladder", or "promotional hierarchy", as "...a fairly well-defined ladder with a relatively large number of rungs...." The career ladder was conceived as a linear progression from the college faculty position to the department chairmanship to academic deanship to the academic vice president position and finally culminating in the college presidency (Cohen and March, 1974; Ferrari, 1970; Mark, 1981; Socolow, 1978).

Subsequent researchers have found the number of variations from the ladder as described by Cohen and March to be substantial enough to question the existence of well defined ladders for higher education administrators (Moore, et al., 1983; Muzzin and Tracz, 1981; Salimbene, 1982). Salimbene (1982) found that only 3.2% of the presidents in her sample had occupied all the positions in the Cohen and March career ladder. Among Canadian presidents a great deal of variation has been found in their career patterns (Muzzin and Tracz, 1981). Moore, et al. (1983) summarized the limitations of the career ladder concept as follows:

As a strictly defined, hierarchical, linear model, it does not reflect the actual experience of a national sample of current college and university presidents. It is most accurate in describing the principal entry

portal to the college presidency- faculty experience- and identifying four other positions that commonly appear within the trajectory, of which the provost position seems the most potent for predicting subsequent move to the president... A strictly hierarchical linear model for the deamship is equally unsatisfactory for describing the actual career experiences of current academic deams.

(p. 513)

None of the studies, however, attempted to develop an alternative conceptualization to the career ladder, or career trajectory, notion.

Evidence from the above cited studies suggests the existence of a career field among academic administrators that is distinct relative to non-academic In this sense, the academic/ administrators. non-academic dualism, or "dual hierarchy," is a useful concept. Although the available studies are limited to the presidential and academic dean positions, the evidence strongly suggests the among academic administrators there is a high degree of impermeability, i.e., restricted movement into academic administrator positions from non-collegiate employment markets or non-academic administrator positions. Salimbene (1982) found only 9% of her sample had come to the presidency from previous employment positions outside higher education and half of those had held teaching faculty

positions at some point in their careers. Similarly, Moore, et al. (1983) found among academic deans substantial permutations in their career trajectories but only an average of 5% had entered the deanship from a position outside higher education. Only 15% of the deans and 21% of the presidential respondents had not had faculty experience, which suggests that the faculty position is a major entry position into academic administration and that the values and qualifications of academic faculty, such as the Ph.D. in a discipline, professorial rank, and tenure, are important filters.

The "dual ladder" career concept generally exists as a well recognized normative pattern in academic institutions, but is not a formal, codified rule (Atwell, 1981; Cohen and March, 1974; Mintzberg, 1979; Scott, 1978; Socolow, 1978). Mintzberg (1979) explains the prominence of these normative career patterns as a reflection of a fundamental truth about the organizational and power structure of academic institutions, namely, that the academic faculty tends to insist that their administrators, the academic administrators, be certified members of the academic teaching faculty.

So well established are the academic/non-academic dualism and the dual ladder concept in the literature as

to be considered paradigmatic. Even Scott's trailblazing studies of non-academic middle managers assume this dualism. Scott (1978,1978a) refers to non-academic administrators as the professionals and the academic administrators as "amateurs" because the latter group tends to reflect the faculty prejudice that academic leaders should not view their tasks as managerial.

A conceptual drawback of Scott's studies, and previous studies of higher education administrators in general, is the lack of an organizational theory to link career patterns to academic organizations. Working within the academic/non-academic dualism framework, Scott (1978) observes that non-academic administrators exhibit a wide variety of career patterns that do not have the academic teaching faculty position as the main career entry position and that are totally separate from the academic administrator career hierarchy. However, Scott does not systematically categorize and describe these career patterns.

For example, Scott hints that a major career division in non-academic administrators is between student support personnel and the more technical, control oriented administrators. He notes that personnel and budget cuts in student affairs area are

predicted, but that the employability of the technical type administrators within academic institutions and out in industry should remain good (Scott, 1978). Yet he does not offer evidence of specific positions from either group. Scott's work points to the need for an organizational theory to tie the support staff functions, technical, control oriented functions, and the academic administrator functions to career patterns.

## <u>Mintzberg's Model</u>

The current study will also employ Mintzberg's model of organizational structures, particularly his tripartite division of middle level administrators into support staff, technocratic administrators, and middle line (academic) administrators (Mintzberg, 1979). According to Mintzberg, all organizations exhibit five basic structural parts: an operating core, middle line administrators, strategic apex, support staff, and a technostructure. Corresponding to these five basic structural units are five general types of organizations, each of which is defined by a structural configuration that emphasizes the predominance of one or a combination of the basic structural parts. The five types of organizations are: simple structure, machine

bureaucracy, professional bureaucracy, divisionalized form, and adhocracy.

Colleges and universities, along with hospitals, CPA firms, social work agencies, and craft production firms, are categorized as professional bureaucracies (Mintzberg, 1979). Professional bureaucracies share qualities of two models of administration, the professional model and the bureaucratic. What distinguishes the professional bureaucracy from the machine bureaucracy, the traditional notion of a bureaucracy, is the predominant structural part of each. In the machine bureaucracy, the technostructure predominates, whereas in the professional bureaucracy the operating core predominates.

According to Mintzberg, the organizational feature that has the greatest effect on the whole character of colleges and universities is that the operating core (the academic faculty) predominates. The faculty "not only control their own work, they also seek collective control of the administrative decisions that affect them...," such as the distribution of resources and the certification of standards for members of the profession and their line administrators (Mintzberg, 1979, p. 358). The strong influence of the academic faculty's profes-

sionalism affects all areas of the organization. The only structural part that is fully elaborated other than the academic faculty is the support staff: the support staff carry out routine work, thereby relieving the more highly trained and specialized faculty professionals to concentrate on teaching, research, community service, faculty governance, etc. The support staff is fully elaborated in much the same way as the basic faculty organizational unit, the academic department. Both academic departments and support staff are organized as multiple units or fields of functional expertise that exist in a highly decentralized environment (Mintzberg, 1979).

The technostructure exists by functional definition to standardize and control the work of all the other parts of the organization. It is the least developed area in a professional bureaucracy. Because the academic faculty in the operating core insist in large measure on setting their own work conditions and the support staff have evolved with similar notions of professional autonomy, there is little need for a technostructure except in areas of finance and personnel matters relating to non-professional staff (Mintzberg, 1979).

Mintzberg views the academic faculty (operating core) and the presidency (strategic apex) as being connected by the academic administrators (middle line administrators). This line of authority, which stretches from the faculty to the presidency, is affected by the predominance of the professionalism of the faculty. Both the strategic apex and the middle line tend to be less elaborated than their counterparts in industry and government in terms of authority and the number of administrators. More importantly in terms of careers, academic faculty tend to insist the academic administrators be certified members of the teaching profession. Put differently, the faculty insist on highly impermeable inclusion boundaries and have developed strong filtering requirements for entrance into the academic administrator career field (Mintzberg, 1979; Gerstenberger, 1981).

In terms of careers, administrators in the technocratic field tend to work in standardized functions that are common to non-academic organizations, whereas the support staff and the middle line (academic) administrators tend to work in activities fairly unique to educational institutions. Consequently, technocratic administrators' careers should exhibit more mobility

with external sources of employment than the other two fields. Middle line administrators should exhibit the least number of work experiences external to higher education due to the uniqueness of academic administration work activities and the strong inclusion boundaries and filtering properties attached to entrance to the field.

In short, Mintzberg's model is a simple elaborated form of the academic/non-academic dualism. Mintzberg's model divides the academic administrators into the middle line and the strategic apex administrators, but the model is in basic agreement with the academic/ non-academic dualism concerning the existence of the line of authority, values, and careers that extends from the operating core (academic faculty), through the middle line (academic deans and vice presidents), to the strategic apex (president). The support staff and technocratic administrators categories are simply an elaboration of the non-academic realm.

## DEFINITION OF TERMS

Academic/Non-Academic Dualism. A conventional concept that assumes a division of values, lines of authority, employment requirements, and status between the academic administrators and the non-academic administrators. The dualism assumes the academic administrator category includes the line of administrators that stretches from the department chairpersons, to the academic deans, to the academic vice-president(s), to the presidency (the academic administrators) and the professional level subordinates to each of the administrator positions in the line. Non-academic administrators are assumed to be the diverse collection of administrative positions that are not included in the academic administrator category.

Administrator Career Field. Empirically observable regularities in the employment market of collegiate administrators which are based around an organizational structure and which reflect a low incidence of movement into the area from external labor markets or other collegiate administrator areas. <u>Career Ladder</u>. A conventional concept that holds that the certain employment markets have developed a linear progression of specified employment positions and that the pattern of this linear progression is highly impermeable to movement from external employment positions into any of the specified positions. Also known as "career line" and "career trajectory."

<u>Impermeability</u>. An objective measure of the degree to which the boundaries of a career field act to limit movement into the career field by administrators from external labor markets or other administrator career fields.

#### **RESEARCH HYPOTHESES**

Contrasted with the non-academic career fields in each of the three models, the Academic career field will exhibit the greatest degree of external impermeability from non-collegiate sources.

Contrasted with the non-academic career fields in each of the three models, the Academic career field will exhibit the highest degree of "career line" relationships.

Contrasted with the Dualism and the CUPA models, the career fields of Mintzberg's model will exhibit a higher degree predictability of external impermeability among non-academic collegiate administrators, specifically the Mintzberg model will show much greater degree of external permeability with the Technocratic career field than with the Support Service career field.

Contrasted with the non-academic career fields of all three models, the Academic career field will exhibit the least degree of career disruption from non-collegiate sources.

# CHAPTER II REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Career related issues of collegiate administrators have become the subject of increasing concern in higher education in recent years. Although numerous studies and reports had been conducted during this century on various aspects of the college presidency, it is only recently that scholarly attention has begun to focus on career characteristics of middle level collegiate administrators. The convention of separating collegiate administrators into an academic/non-academic dualism has carried over into the research. Due to the career commonalities that academic middle level administrators have with the presidency, academic administrators have hitherto received greater attention. All other middle level administrators have been categorized as non-academic and have received less attention from researchers.

Recent studies cast doubt on the adequacy of conventional assumptions about the structural characteristics of collegiate administrator career patterns and, thereby, point to the need for alternative conceptual bases for future studies. In particular, this study

will examine the evidence relating to the limitations of the academic/non-academic dualism and the career trajectory notion, which in higher education have developed out of the conventional understanding of the career pattern leading to the college presidency. This study will suggest the advantage of differentiated categorizations of non-academic administrators and the concept of career field over conventional understandings.

# Academic Administrator Career Characteristics

Previous studies have tended to distinguish between academic administrators and non-academic administrators, and most have limited themselves to the former. The most studied position has been the college presidency. Cohen and March (1974) described the profile that has emerged from the studies of presidents as follows.

American college presidents today and in the recent past are most commonly middle aged, married, male, white, Protestant academics, from a relatively well educated middle class professional-managerial, native-born, small-town family background. They represent in social terms, a conventional elite group for the general population of the American college and university students and faculty. There are numerous exceptions to the general pattern. The frequency of those exceptions appears to be related systematically to variations among colleges and universities in their student clientele and faculty personnel. Atypical student and faculty populations are more likely to have atypical presidents. (pp. 7-8)

The most salient feature that emerges from the research is that presidents are strong academics. As elites, presidents reflect the major values of the types of institutions they lead. This is reflected in presidents' academic degrees and career patterns. As the number of faculty with earned doctorates have increased during this century, the proportion of presidents with earned doctorates has likewise increased. Warren (1938) reported that 223 of the 636 (35%) presidents in his study had earned doctorates. Cohen and March (1974) reported the figure had risen to "about 75 to 60% of all new presidents and more than 90% of the presidents of better known schools" (p.13).

The increase in earned doctorates, however, varies by institutional type and academic discipline. Ferrari (1970) found that 78% of his sample of public university presidents had earned doctorates, contrasted with 61% of the Protestant church related liberal arts college presidents. The academic fields of presidents tend to fall within three general areas: humanities, social sciences, and education (Bolman, 1965; Cohen and March,

1974; Ferrari, 1970; Ingraham, 1968). The percentage of presidents from each general area, however, is not consistent across all types of institutions. Higher percentages of presidents whose academic field was education tend to be located in teachers' colleges and universities that have developed from teachers colleges. Liberal arts colleges tend to have presidents with academic backgrounds in liberal arts (Cohen and March, 1974; Hodgkinson, 1971). Presidents with social science backgrounds have been found more prominently in larger institutions (Cohen and March, 1974).

The career patterns of college presidents consistently reflect the notion of a well developed career field for academic administrators. Entry into the presidency from non-collegiate employment markets has been quite restricted. Most college and university presidents have spent a majority of their professional experience in academic organizations (Cohen and March, 1974). Warren's study, which did not distinguish presidents by institutional type, reported that of the presidents who had held their positions for 25 years or longer, 81% had been in "school work" and 13% had been in the ministry prior to entering the presidency; of the presidents who had been in their positions for 5 or

fewer years, 73% had been in "school work" and 19% in the ministry (Warren, 1938). Cohen and March (1974) note that entry to the presidency directly from the clergy diminished during this century, and is found in only limited instances today in institutions closely affiliated with religious orders. Bolman's study of 116 newly selected presidents found that 41% of his sample had worked only in higher education, and that only 6% of the others had worked greater than 5 years outside higher education (Bolman, 1965).

In addition to the diminution of non-collegiate sources of access to the presidency, two other patterns have evolved. First, the academic faculty experience has become increasingly prevalent. Ferrari (1970) found 86% of the presidents in his sample had college teaching experience and the median number of years teaching college was 11. Bolman (1965) reported that 81% of his sample had had teaching experience at the college level and 70% had been full professors; as in the Ferrari (1970) study, the median number of teaching years was 11. Salimbene (1982) found that more presidents in her sample had held faculty teaching positions than had served as either academic vice presidents, academic

deans, of departmental chairpersons; 79.5% had faculty teaching experience.

Second, collegiate administrative experience has become prevalent. Of the presidents in Bolman's sample, 73% indicated that they had experience as full-time administrators and 47% had part-time experience (Bolman, 1965). Ferrari (1970) showed 69% had full-time experience. The mean number of years administrative experience for Bolman (1965) and Ferrari (1970) was 8 and 10, respectively. Salimbene's analysis identified 58.4% of the presidents as having had academic line administrative experience (academic vice president, academic dean, department chairperson); that percentage increased to 85.4% when other types of collegiate administrative experience were included (Salimbene, 1982).

Cohen and March (1974) observed that even though some presidents are chosen directly from the faculty ranks, this phenomenon is much more prevalent among the smaller type institutions; they surmise that 90% of the presidents at large public and independent universities have had prior administrative experience. Ferrari (1970) found that only 3% of the presidents in his study had begun their careers in educational administration,

hence giving credence to the importance of the faculty positions for entry into academic administration.

Observing these regularities, Cohen and March (1974) first introduced the concept of normative career line, or career ladder, to the study of collegiate administrators.

Although the career path to the presidency varies from one type of school to another and has varied over the past 70 years, presidents are made, for the most part, by the logic of a hierarchy. That is, most presidencies in American colleges are now occupied by individuals who entered an academic career as a college teacher, were asked at some point to assume administrative duties as a department chairman, institute director, dean, or similar position, were subsequently promoted to higher administrative position and then to a presidency... The pattern is distinctly--and increasingly--promotion through the hierarchy of academic administration (p.19).

Although Ferrari (1970) had earlier alluded to a presidential career line in the general sense of career patterns, Cohen and March (1974) specified a presidential career ladder as a promotional hierarchy composed of specific positions. Similar to the concept of "career trajectory" developed later by Spilerman (1977), the career ladder concept assumed linear job sequences in the market place that could be observed empirically. Features of this career ladder included entry level experience as a college teaching faculty member, upward linear progression, and a six rung ladder of employment positions. Cohen and March (1974) concluded that "on the basis of this analysis, we believe that the career path to the presidency is a fairly well-defined ladder with a relatively large number of rungs" (p.23).

Further, they reported that the career ladder leading to the presidency (and, by extension, to all academic administrators) was wholly separate from the career advancement patterns of non-academic administrators. They deemed these normative career patterns the "dual career ladder". Neither the presidential career ladder nor the dual ladder concepts were empirically tested in their study.

Subsequent researchers (Moore et al., 1983; Salimbene, 1982) report evidence to indicate that the career path to the presidency includes much greater variation among their patterns of previous employment than reported by Cohen and March. Salimbene (1982) found only 3.2% of her sample had held all the positions in the Cohen and March normative career ladder. To test the Cohen and March career ladder paradigm, Salimbene

developed 15 possible career path variations that were based on which of the career ladder positions were included.

Salimbene (1982) included career path variations for presidents who had worked outside higher education. Consistent with previous studies that revealed presidential experience to be primarily within academia (Cohen and March, 1974; Ferrari, 1970), Salimbene (1982) found only 4.5% had entered the presidency directly from the outside academia and only 4.5% had entered after having been a faculty member before working outside. This supports the contention that the academic administrator career field, at least in terms of college presidents, exhibits high impermeability.

Analysis by Salimbene (1982) of the non-collegiate administrative posts formerly held by presidents support the claim that academic administration--at least for those who succeeded to the presidency--has a highly impermeable functional boundary. Salimbene's career path #10, which was defined as "Faculty to Administration to President," included 26 of the 156 presidents 16.7% in the sample. Administration was defined in the study as being any administrative positions (both academic and non-academic) outside the specific positions designated

by the Cohen and March career ladder. The 26 presidents had held 49 administrative positions outside the career ladder. Of these, 5 (19.2%) had worked as Chief Student Affairs Officer, 1 (3.8%) as Assistant/Associate Dean of Students, 5 (19.2%) as "Other" Student Affairs Officer, 5 (19.2%) as Business Officer and 3 (11.5%) as Development Officer. Although Salimbene does not reveal how many of the 26 presidents had worked in non-academic administrative positions, it is obvious that it is a very small number.

Career path #15, which constituted the 16 presidents (10.3% of the 156 presidents) directly from non-career ladder administrative positions to the presidency, reported even less experience in non-academic posts. Of the 26 total positions listed by these 16 presidents, only 5 indicated experience as Development Officers, 3 as Business Officers, 4 as Other Student Affairs Officers and none as Chief Student Affairs Officers or Assistant/Associate Dean of Students.

Empirical studies relating to the career experiences of other types of academic administrators have been rare. Ingraham (1968) provided a statistical profile of four-year college administrators that

included academic administrators (president, academic vice president, liberal arts dean, graduate dean, and library director) and non-academic administrators (business officer, dean of students, director of admissions, registrar, and director of development).

The study itself did not make a distinction between academic and non-academic administrators; nor did it assume any other organizational model as a frame of reference. Each position was treated as a distinct entity.

The profiles for academic vice president, liberal arts dean and graduate dean were similar to that of the presidents in terms of sex distribution and the percentage of earned doctorates. These profiles differed by institutional type, with universities and public institutions registering higher percentages than liberal arts colleges and private institutions, respectively (Ingraham, 1968, pp. 294-295).

In Ingraham's study, twenty-three (5%) of the vice presidents and 97 (16%) of the liberal arts deans were women; however, of these, only one woman vice president and no women deans were from universities (p.168). Similar to the pattern found in the presidential profiles, the highest percentage of vice presidents and

graduate deans with the Ed.D. degree and teaching backgrounds in education disciplines were from public colleges (pp. 294-295), which may be explained by the prevalence of state teachers colleges in this category.

The profile for library director presented a completely disparate picture: relative to other academic administrators, there were higher percentages of females and lower percentages of earned doctorates, with the greater differentials appearing between universities and liberal arts colleges (pp. 294-295). Comparison of Ingraham's findings with other studies is made more difficult by the choice of institutional categories in the study. Research findings were reported by type of control (public or private) and further sub-divided by size (university or college).

# <u>Non-Academic Administrator Career Characteristics</u>

Much less attention has been paid to the larger and more diverse administrative group, the non-academic administrators (Bess and Lodahl, 1969; Sagaria, 1981; Scott, 1978). Yet, to a large degree, the tremendous growth in collegiate administration during this century has occurred among non-academic administrators, not the academic administrators (Scott, 1978). Fife has aptly described the range and importance of non-academic administrators as follows:

These are people who are responsible for the non-instructional functions of an institution. The vast majority of them serve in positions that greatly affect the day-to-day operations of an institution, its educational mission, and even its survival...

With the exception of top-level executives, e.g., presidents and vice-presidents, most of these employees have very low visibility within the academy. Yet they are the ones who control the budgets, assign and train support personnel, select the students who will be attending the institution, and negotiate matters with state and federal offices. They also are the ones who develop and transmit information that creates the public image of the institution. And they are the ones that help to attract gifts that allow the faculty to have increased freedom to pursue their academic interests.

(Fife, in Foreword to Scott, 1978, p.7)

The changes in higher education over the past 15 years and the attendant growth in emphasis on fiscal management lend credit to the sub-division of non-academic administrators. Glenny (1972) expressed the belief that the technocratic type administrators, by virtue of their responsibilities in institutional research, analytical studies, and budget matters, have diminished the real power of the faculty, students, and academic administrators and have emerged as "the anonymous leaders of higher education." Further, increases in numbers and resources for the "financial technocrats" are expected (Baldridge, 1978), while decreases for support staff are likely (Scott, 1978).

Broad-based, empirical research on the non-academic administrators has to date been sparse. Most of the literature has centered around specific administrative areas, such as financial aid or career placement, and conveys a narrow range of practical information and opinion. Research about career patterns and career administrator characteristics tend to limit themselves to the concern of the specific administrative area, e.g., studies about student affairs personnel published in the NASPA Journal (Brooks and Avila, 1974; Harter, Moden, and Wilson, 1981; Paul and Hoover, 1980; Rickard,

1981) or financial aid (Hauser and Larzarsfeld, 1964). According to Scott (1978), the professional organizations that sponsor many of these journals have developed during this century out of administrators' needs for training and knowledge dissemination. Academic institutions traditionally have not provided explicit training for administrators. While providing interesting and practical insights into specific non-academic fields, the narrow focus of this genre of studies has tended to preclude the development of a broader conceptual scheme.

Only two major studies have taken an overview of non-academic administrators (Bess and Lodahl, 1969; Scott, 1978). Both studies treated non-academic administrators as a completely separate entity. The dualism model was the implicit organizational categorization for both studies.

The Bess and Lodahl (1969) study, which was conducted in 1966 during the period of tremendous growth in higher education, reported 15% of non-academic administrators had previously been teaching faculty and 22% had held non-university jobs. Six positions were surveyed: admissions, student personnel, university relations, registrar, institutional research, and financial aid.

Non-academic administrators tended to stay in the same administrative specialty. About three-fourths of the respondents indicated that they had done the same kind of work in their previous jobs. Mobility between institutions was limited: only 13% came from similar positions. Due to specialization in particular administrative positions, many directors faced the situation of dead end jobs and low career ceilings.

A series of articles by Robert Scott (1977, 1978, 1978a, 1979, 1979a) offers the most comprehensive view to date of non-academic, middle-level administrators. Scott found that the organizational structure and the value systems manifested themselves through certain traditional practices that affect the career patterns of collegiate administrators. First, the most obvious is the separation of academic administrators from other types of administrators. Scott excludes academic administrators on the basis that they embody a completely different career value system; whereas non-academic administrators view themselves as having life-long administrative careers, academic administrators view themselves as "amateur administrators" whose true career is as a faculty member (Scott, 1979a). According to Scott (1978), non-academic administrators as a whole

exhibit organized career patterns that do not originate in teaching faculty positions.

Second, academic institutions tend to organize their administrative functions into specialty areas, such as admissions, student life offices, and development. Historically, these specialty areas have been added on as institutions have adapted to their environments (Scott, 1978). Earlier in the century the support staff functions were accomplished by academic faculty (Angus, 1973). As academic institutions have grown in size and complexity, they have differentiated the functions into separate offices and have developed full-time administrators with expertise in the particular field. Scott (1978) observed that this evolution can be observed today between small and large institutions. For example, both shall and large institutions must carry out admissions and registrar functions. Whereas at a small institution a secretary may handle both and at a large university the functions may be handled by separate corps of full-time administrators and secretaries.

Third, normative patterns for hiring and training have developed around the specialty areas. Academic institutions have traditionally relied on on-the-job

training rather than formal training (Scott, 1978). In response to the need for training and dissemination of information, professional organizations have tended to develop along the lines of the administrative specialty areas.

Hiring practices tend to reinforce the importance of specialty areas as career orientations. Academic institutions generally emphasize employment experience in a specialty area rather than general administrative skills or formal training. Many of the specialty areas do not have very many levels between the entry level position and the chief administrator (most often a director), junior administrators traditionally have had to relocate to other institutions to advance (Scott, 1977). With emphasis on experience in a specialty field, chief administrators of specialty fields are often faced with the reality that they attained their position at a relatively early age and are faced with low prospects for future advancement.

In organizational terms, Scott described the nonacademic realm as being long, flat hierarchy composed of many individual specialty areas that act as individual career fields. He opined that, taken as a whole, the non-academic administrator realm had developed a

distinct career market; that is, it had developed functional boundaries that increased impermeability relative to the academic administrator and the non-collegiate employment market.

## <u>Methodological Issues</u>

The methodologies and the characteristics of the studies of collegiate administrators have varied substantially, thereby confounding the interpretation of results. The earliest study by Warren (1938), which simply looked at biographical data, employed the 1936 Educational Directory and the 1936-37 "Leaders in Education" and the "Who's Who in America."

The predominant method of inquiry, however, has been the mail survey (Bolman, 1965; Demerath, et al., 1967; Ingraham, 1968; Ferrari, 1979; Salimbene, 1982; Moore et al.,1983). The Bolman study (1965), conducted under the auspices of the American Council on Education, was based on responses to a mail questionnaire to 135 "recently selected presidents of accredited, non-parochial, four-year institutions reported in Liberal Education in the calendar years 1960 through 1962" (p. 32). Demerath, et al. (1967) used a mail survey of 270 presidents from U.S. Office of Education

listing of accredited colleges and universities: the sample included teacher's colleges, technical and professional schools, and junior colleges, but not Black colleges, women's colleges, or parochial schools. Ingraham (1968) reported on survey questionnaire responses from 813 presidents and 5462 other academic and non-academic administrators from four-year institutions offering a liberal arts and general program and listed in the U.S. Office of Education 1965-66 Education Directory. Ferrari (1970) surveyed all the 1118 presidents of the four-year accredited institutions listed in the 1967 American Council on Education semi-annual directory.

All four of the above cited studies shared methodological or reporting deficiencies. All used national listings of accredited institutions, but only Ferrari (1970) was explicit about the population size, sample size, and response rate. Supplementary sources of data, such as interviews with a sub-sample (Bolman, 1965; Demerath, 1967; Ferrari, 1970) and use of institutional and biographical information from national listings (Demerath et al., 1967; Ferrari, 1970) were incorporated into some of the studies, but there was no indication that any supplementary data was used to establish the

validity of questionnaire responses. Ferrari (1970) was the only researcher to report use of a pilot study to increase check for construct validity. Each of the survey questionnaires appeared to have been originally designed by the researcher; no tests for reliability of questionnaire items against previous research or later tests for reliability were reported.

The two major survey-based studies devoted to non-academic administrators (Bess and Lodahl, 1969; Scott, 197B) exhibit methodological and reporting problems that raise doubts about the accuracy of their reported findings. Bess and Lodahl (1969) surveyed by mail 204 administrators in six administrative positions from 17 Ivy League and Big Ten universities, yet they generalized their findings to all non-academic administrators in all types of institutions. Only 34% of the surveys were returned, yet the authors did not comment on the implications of low response for interpreting the results. Likewise, matters such as questionnaire construction, pilot study, administration instructions and other things that would have a bearing on validity were not discussed.

Scott published numerous articles (1977, 1978, 1978a, 1979, 1979a) based on an Exxon Foundation study.

Most of the general findings are reported in "Lords, Squires, and Yeomen: Collegiate Middle Managers and Their Organizations" (Scott, 1978). None of the published articles contain explicit methodological information. Consequently, one can only treat Scott's works as a source of insights and conjecture about non-academic administrators.

More recent studies of academic administrators have shown improved methodology (Moore, et al., 1983; Salimbene, 1982). Both studies utilized the same research design and data source. Salimbene's dissertation (1982) looked at the career paths of college presidents. Moore, et al. (1983) extended the analysis to the career paths of academic deans. The population for the two studies consisted of approximately 20,000 upper-level line administrators at 1614 accredited, four-year, degree granting institutions in the continental U.S. A large sample (4092, or 20%) was stratified by the Carnegie Council Institutional Types I, II, and III, was chosen to allow for analyses by institutional type, position, sex, and race. Development and implementation of the mail questionnaire were based on three sources: the Dillman (1978) "total design method"; a design from a previously conducted statewide

survey (Sagaria, 1980); and a pilot study that consisted of 25 administrators drawn from positions and institutions similar to those in the study. Questionnaire items were both objective and attitudinal, yet there is no indication that the questions are based on any particular construct. A response rate of 72.6% was recorded, and follow-up telephone calls were made to determine whether non-respondents were the same as the respondents. Questions of reliability were not addressed.

## CHAPTER III

### METHODOLOGY

## Target Population and Data Gathering Procedures

The study will involve a secondary analysis of data collected in the summer of 1981 in a statewide survey of collegiate administrators. The target population comprised all the middle level administrators (N=617) at the director level or above from thirty-three state supported and independent colleges and universities (Carnegie Commission Types I, II, and III) from the Commonwealth of Virginia. Only institutions offering a four-year academic course of study leading to the granting of a baccalaureate degree were considered. Types of institutions not included were two-year institutions; institutions that were not accredited or were accredited only by one professional association; and other institutions with specialized missions that make them unique, such as law schools and medical schools. College presidents and academic chairpersons were not surveyed.

The survey questionnaire was designed to elicit both objective and subjective data about career characteristics and work activities of administrators

from four-year institutions. The objective questions related to personal characteristics, educational and professional background, and job characteristics. The subjective questions related to current work activities and the relationship between career experiences and work performance.

The Dillman (1978) "total design method" was used in the design of the questionnaire instrument and the survey techniques to promote a higher response rate.  $\Lambda$ relatively high response rate of 76.5%, based on 472 usable responses, was recorded.

### LIMITATIONS

Methodological and practical considerations guided the choice of the mail survey method. Whereas career pattern information for each individual was primarily objective, the diversity of institutions and administrator types required large samples. Mail questionnaire survey techniques have the advantage of being efficient for gathering data from a large sample dispersed over a wide geographic area and from a wide diversity of institutions (Dillman, 1978). Mail surveys have a high reliability when objective questions are asked (Kerlinger, 1973). Limitations include validating who actually fills out the questionnaire and limited success in avoiding item nonresponse (Dillman, 1978).

Another limitation was that the study included only middle level administrators from academic institutions in the Carnegie Council Institutional Types I,II, and III. Presidents, department chairpersons, administrators below the rank of director were not included in the target population. Career patterns of administrators from two year, professional, technical, and non-accredited institutions were not included. Thus, generalization will necessarily be limited to the

locality and the type of institutions and administrative positions contained in the study.

A third limitation is the degree of inaccuracy implicit in the use of standard directories for determining the population and sample. To secure the most accurate and comprehensive directory of administrators working at state-supported institutions, payroll records of existing personnel were obtained from the Virginia Department of Personnel and Training. The personnel office of each state-supported institution was then contacted to verify and update this list. For private institutions, a list of administrators was first compiled from the most recent college catalogue for each institution; then, the office of personnel for each private institution was contacted by telephone to verify the accuracy of the list and to add additional positions that had not appeared in the catalogue. Finally, explicit instructions were included with each questionnaire requesting that only the addressee fill out the form; that the respondent's current position be indicated on the guestionnaire; and that the researcher be notified if the addressee was no longer in the position.

#### PROCEDURES

### <u>Q Sort Technique</u>

The study employed a structured Q Sort technique to sort administrator position titles into each of the career fields. Kerlinger (1974) has defined the Q Sort technique as one that centers on "sorting decks of cards called 'Q Sorts' and on the correlations among the responses of different individuals to the Q sorts" (p. 562). The appropriateness of the Q technique for such tasks as distinguishing the administrator groups has been noted by Kerlinger (1974):

The main strength of "Q" is its close affinity to theory. Structured Q sorts, by definition, are theoretically oriented. In order to build a structured sort, one has perforce to enunciate some kind of theory.

(p. 594)

The study employed nine collegiate administrators in the Q Sort. Each of the Q Sort participants was screened to assure that he/she had not been a respondent in the original survey.

Each Q-Sort participant was provided with a packet containing a set of procedures, a description of each model, and three identical set of cards. Each card

contained one of the collegiate administrative titles. The procedures instructed the Q Sort participant to (1) read the description of the Dualism model, (2) sort the first set of administrator title cards into the model's fields and (3) then repeat the same process for the Mintzberg and CUPA models. To avoid ambiguity in the results, the procedures demanded that each administrator title be placed into a specific field; however, comments about the difficulties of categorizing specific titles were solicited.

# <u>Data Gathering</u>

Data gathering for the survey questionnaire was governed by the mail survey techniques set out in Dillman's "total design method" (Dillman, 1978). Dillman's method has been employed successfully by others who have conducted similar research (Moore, et al., 1983; Sagaria, 1980; Salimbene, 1982). The survey questionnaire and cover letter were mailed at first-class rates to the target population administrators. An original typed cover letter introduced the purpose of the research and the researcher. The cover letter also promised to interested respondents a synopsis of the research at the conclusion of the

research. Because each questionnaire included a code that corresponded with the particular administrator's name and position, the cover letter also explained that the code was to be used only for determining which questionnaires had been received and that anonymity would be promised to all respondents. A postage-paid, self-addressed return envelope was included with the questionnaire and cover letter.

Two weeks after the original questionnaire had been mailed, a post card was sent to all non-respondents reminding them to return the survey. Three weeks later, a second questionnaire, cover letter, and envelope was be sent to all who had not responded by that point.

Because validity is a major concern in this type of research, special attention was paid to response rate and possible systematic bias of non-respondents. Dillman (1978) had reported response rates as high as 90% for researchers using his methods. Sagaria (1980), and Salimbene (1982) had reported response rates of 62% and 72.8%, respectively. The actual response on which this study is based rate was 76.5%.

Recognizing that representativeness of the respondents is questionable unless comparisons are made between respondents and non-respondents (Kerlinger, 1973), a

telephone survey of 10% of the non-respondents was conducted after all the respondents' surveys had been received and documented. A comparison of the the respondents and the 10% sample of non-respondents was conducted to determine whether a self-selection biasing effect of non-respondents had been present. Self-selection bias was not found to have been present.

## <u>Treatments</u>

The basic purpose of the study was to determine the extent to which career fields exist among collegiate middle administrators by examining the relationship of administrators' current career field orientation relative to the career field orientation of each of their previous employment positions. This career field orientation test was employed separately with each of the three organizational models to determine the analytical suitability of each for study of collegiate administrative careers.

# <u>Ethical Safeguards</u>

The anonymity to the individuals' responses in the the mail survey will be guaranteed. Analyses will only be reported in the aggregate form.

### INSTRUMENTATION

### <u>Description</u>

The survey questionnaire was designed by Dr. Mary Ann Sagaria, who based pertinent parts on a survey instrument that had been employed in previous research (Sagaria,1980; Salimbene, 1982). The instrument design was intended to provide certain types of objective data: basic demographic information, career employment data, academic degree history, and faculty status.

In the developmental stage of the questionnaire, a pilot study was conducted to identify sources of ambiguity and design problems. Ten experienced administrators who were not part of the target population were asked to fill out the questionnaire and then suggest problems and potential improvements. Their suggestions were used to modify the instrument.

### <u>Reliability</u>

The use of non-parametric statistics appropriate for this type of study poses a serious threat to the ability or statistical power of those tests to show statistical significance. The relatively large size of the target population should reduce this threat.

Reliability is another factor contributing to this threat. However, Kerlinger (1973) has noted that the reliability of personal factual items in surveys is quite high relative to attitudinal response items.

### <u>Validity</u>

The questionnaire construction phase included a pilot study composed of 10 experienced administrators who were not part of the target population. To increase face validity, the pilot study participants were asked to fill out the survey; then, their criticisms and improvements were solicited.

Due to the relatively short length and the use of the Dillman survey method, validity threats, such as respondent inaccuracy, item non-response, and overall low response rate, should have been diminished.

### <u>Design</u>

The basic purpose of the present study was to examine the career patterns of collegiate administrators in terms of three organizational models. The design was a retrospective process in which each respondent's employment history was analyzed in terms of each of the three models.

Two sets of constructs were employed in this analysis. First, the study utilized the constructs of career lines and career fields. Career line, from which the broader construct of career field has been derived, assumes that career patterns tend toward a relatively homogeneous, continuous, linear set of employment positions. Two methods for examining careers as career lines have been developed (Salimbene, 1982). One way is to identify the entry-level positions for each career line and conduct a longitudinal study of all workers who entered through those positions. The lack of such longitudinal data for higher education administrators renders this approach unfeasible.

Another career line method is a retrospective analysis of the career histories of all the individuals currently occupying each position. Spilerman (1977) has noted that this latter approach is appropriate when the focus of the research is the patterns and permutations for a particular position and the characteristics of those who constitute those patterns. Cross-sectional data is appropriate for this type approach.

This second approach was employed in this study with modifications to the career line methodology to adapt it to the career field concept. The concept of

career field denotes empirically observable regularities in the employment market of collegiate administrators which reflect organizational structures and a low incidence of individuals moving into the field from "outside" sources. In this sense, "outside" is defined as any employment that is not the same as the respondent's current career field.

To define better the outside sources, the two additional constructs of external permeability and internal permeability were created. External permeability relates to employment sources that are not contained within any of the collegiate administrator career fields. External permeability is further subdivided into (1) non-collegiate sources and (2) collegiate non-administrative sources. Internal permeability relates to employment sources that are collegiate administrator positions yet are different than the respondent's current career field.

The design of the study follows from three main concerns: (1) to what extent experienced administrators agree on the career field orientation of specific positions; (2) whether career patterns among collegiate administrators can be identified; and (3) whether the Mintzberg and/or CUPA model are demonstrably better for

analyzing career patterns among collegiate administrators.

The first concern was addressed by the Q Sort procedure described earlier. The latter two concerns were addressed by analyzing each survey respondent's career history in terms of his/her current career field in each of the three models. The analysis proceeded retrospectively, first examining the position held just prior to the current position, then the second most recent position, and so forth until all a respondent's positions had been analyzed.

As each position was analyzed in this retrospective manner, the following four questions were raised. First, had all the respondent's employment positions to that point remained in the same field in an uninterrupted line? This question was asked to determine whether true administrative career lines exist. Second, if all sources of external permeability were eliminated, would then all the respondent's employment positions to that point have remained in the same field in an uninterrupted line? Third, what was the relative location and the specific type of any source of external permeability? This question was intended to determine whether employment positions that constituted sources of

external permeability tended to fall at the beginning of the respondents' careers before they entered collegiate administration or whether they tended to interrupt collegiate careers. Fourth, to what extent did the collegiate administrators tend to work in the same career field as his/her current position?

Eight career field patterns used in this analysis were: (1) in the same career field; (2) in one of the other career fields; (3) as a teaching faculty member; (4) in a non-administrative staff capacity in a collegiate setting; (5) in a student capacity; (6) in a non-collegiate administrative (non-military) capacity; (7) in a non-collegiate, non-administrative (non-military) position; or, (8) in a non-collegiate, military position.

### CHAPTER IV

### RESULTS

Career fields, as defined in this study, are relatively stable patterns of organizational structure. Three organizational models were chosen and the subdivisions of each were defined as career fields. A panel of experts sorted each of the titles of the administrative positions in the study into a career field of each of the three models. With the career fields thus defined in terms of specific titles, the career histories of each respondent in the survey of administrators in Virginia were examined to determine the extent to which career patterns had developed permeability.

The degree to which career fileds are stable is what has been defined as their impermeability; conversely, the degree to which they are unstable, and less "patterned", is their permeability. Because measuring impermeability itself would require greater controls than the mail survey instrument can accommodate, this study will necessarily focus on measures of permeability.

The chapter is divided into two main sections. The first section is devoted to the results of the Q Sort procedure. The second section reports the measures of career field permeability derived from the analyses of the career histories of the survey respondents.

### RESULTS OF Q-SORT PROCEDURE

The most salient outcome of the Q-Sort procedure was the extent to which the panel of experts agreed on the academic field in all three models. Particularly with the Dualism model, the panel showed little dissension. With the exception of four positions, the panel placed each title into either of categories of the Dualism model with a consensus exceeding 75 percent. The four exceptions (Director of the Educational Media Services, Assistant to the Chief Academic Officer, Assistant to an Academic Dean, and Chief Executive Vice President) were only slightly marginal, with two/thirds of the panel agreeing on Academic or Non-Academic career field.

The panel treated the academic administrators within the Mintzberg and CUPA models with the same degree of resolve at the deans' level and above. However, slightly lesser consensus was found with the assistant dean titles within the Mintzberg model: some panelists inclined toward the Support Service field. This lower consensus was found with both the associate dean titles and the assistant dean titles within the CUPA model, with dissenters inclining toward the CUPA

Administrative field. In the Mintzberg model, the panel was split to a greater degree on the title "Assistant Dean - Other (Academic Area)" than on the other assistant dean titles, perhaps due to the ambiguity of the title itself.

Contrasting the panel's sorting of titles for the Mintzberg and CUPA models, some very definite patterns emerge. First, the Support Service (Mintzberg) field tends to have fewer position titles included under it than the Technocratic (Mintzberg) field, but the field appears to correspond closely with the Student Support Service (CUPA) field. Of the 17 positions in the Support Service (Mintzberg) field, 13 were categorized as Student Support Service (CUPA).

Second, the Support Service (Mintzberg) showed little overlap with the External (CUPA) field: the "Staff Other -Development" position was the only instance of such overlap.

Third, the Technocratic (Mintzberg) field closely corresponds with the Administrative (CUPA) and External (CUPA) fields, perhaps because the Academic and Technocratic fields within the Mintzberg model are relatively distinct and correspond with CUPA's Academic and Student Support Service fields, respectively. The

External (CUPA) field is comprised of only six titles, the rest being categorized as Administrative (CUPA). Among all the non-academic career fields within the Mintzberg and CUPA models, the Technocratic (Mintzberg) and the Administrative (CUPA) fields are relatively large. They have 28 and 31 positions, respectively.

Fourth, Technocratic (Mintzberg) and the Administrative (CUPA) fields tend to exhibit the greater number of positions in which a two-thirds consensus was not present. Within the CUPA model, 7 positions lacked twothirds consensus, whereas within the Mintzberg model, 9 positions lacked this level of consensus, of which 7 showed slight advantage to the Technocratic field. With the CUPA model, the contested positions appear to be in the areas of continuing education, "assistant to", and housing related positions. With the Mintzberg model, the contested positions appear to be also in the areas of "assistant to" and housing positions, but perhaps more significantly, in the areas of financial aid, registrar, athletics, information/ public relations, and administrative dean.

Fifth, the Support Service (Mintzberg) and Student Support Service (CUPA) tend to be quite limited, not only in the number of positions, but also in the level

of the positions. The highest level is student affairs deans positions. Whereas under the Technocratic (Mintzberg), the Administrative (CUPA) and the External (CUPA) fields are areas that quite often have vice president level positions, such as business, research, personnel, development, and public relations. Within the CUPA model, even the Chief Executive Vice President is categorized as Administrative.

Finally, under the Mintzberg model, several nonacademic areas were categorized differently at the top than at the subordinate levels. Dean of Admissions, Director of Housing, Director of Development and Associate/Assistant Director of Development were classified as Technocratic; whereas the Associate/ Assistant Director of Admissions, Associate/Assistant Director of Housing, and Staff Other - Development were classified as Support Service. Significantly, the CUPA model exhibited this only in the area of housing.

Overall, the Dualism model emerged from the Q Sort superior to the other two models in terms of the level of consensus and consistency within administrative areas. The panel was in basic agreement on all three models as to what positions constituted the academic field, but showed less resolve with the Mintzberg and

CUPA models. Within the CUPA model, the panel was seriously split between the Academic and Administrative fields. To an even greater extent with the Mintzberg model, the panel was split between the Support Service and Technocratic fields and split within the ranks of some functional areas such as admissions.

### PERMEABILITY ANALYSIS

Career fields exhibit external and internal sources of permeability. External sources, used here to denote any employment positions that are not collegiate administrative positions, fall into two general categories, non-collegiate sources and collegiate nonadministrative sources.

Internal sources of permeability are collegiate administrative positions that nonetheless do not fall within the respondent's current career field. For example, when a respondent's career history is being analyzed with the Dualism model and his/her career field has been established as being the "Academic", then any previous collegiate administrative positions that the respondent had held that were "Non-academic" would not be in the same career field and, therefore, would be sources of internal permeability. Using the same example, when the Mintzberg model is employed with the same respondent's career history and assuming the respondent's current administrative position has established his/her career field to be "Academic", then any of the respondent's previous collegiate administrative positions that were either "Support Service" or

"Technocratic", would constitute internal sources of permeability.

### External Sources of Permeability

Collegiate administrative career fields exhibit four primary types of external permeability. First, individuals may come into collegiate administration having worked previously in non-higher education positions or non-administrative collegiate positions. Second, some individuals exhibit disrupted career patterns, i.e. they leave and then return to collegiate administration. Third, some collegiate administrators hold non-collegiate administration positions concomitantly. Finally, a fourth type of permeability is one in which individuals leave collegiate administration altogether.

This study excludes the third and fourth types of permeability. The third type, concomitant positions, appears to be very prevalent in higher education, but it is very difficult to define and measure. Hence, significant, if not insurmountable, problems of validity exist. One example is National Guard and military reserve experience. A second, more prominent type is faculty positions held concomitantly with administrative

positions. Some do have concomitant faculty roles, whereas others hold the faculty rank but concentrate totally on the administrative positions. A third equally challenging example relates to consulting and directing research grants concomitant with administrative positions. The need for stricter definitions of concomitance that will increase validity is an area for future research and will be discussed in the final chapter.

The fourth type of permeability is simply beyond the scope of this study. Whereas a study of the reasons individuals leave collegiate administration may be interesting and worthwhile, such a study would require a very different conceptual framework and data gathering methods.

### <u>Measures of External Permeability</u>

The primary reason for attempting to measure external permeability is to determine the extent to which higher education administration has developed distinctive career patterns that inhibit or prevent entry from external sources. The external sources are here subdivided into non-collegiate sources and nonadministrative collegiate sources.

Figure 1 contrasts collegiate administrative positions with these two sources of external permeability.

Figure l

# ACGREGATION OF CAREER POSITIONS HELD BY ALL RESPONDENTS

	COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE *	COLLEGIATE NON-ADMINISTRATIVE	NON-COLLEGIATE
DUALISM			
ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	22.7 32.9 %0 %0	53.4 % 30.3 %	23 26 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 36
MINTZBERG			
ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	22.8 3 37.9 3 31.3 3	53.9 % 31.1 % 29.8 %	23. 21.1.3 26.9 36.94 34 34 34 34
CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	22.7 35.7 35.7 % 37.9 %	533.14 18.14 32.0 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	233.0 467.1 10.1 14 10.1 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14

NOTE: Throughout this analysis, "staff other" positions were included with collegiate non-administrative positions, even though, in some cases, the "staff positions are very administrative in nature. other" The academic career field of each model provides few surprises. Each of the three models contained an academic administrator career field, and with few exceptions, the same position titles were contained under each model. Thus, it is to be expected that the variance across the three models would be quite small. The data indicate that this is indeed the case with only 0.1 % difference in the three models.

As general patterns are identified among the non-academic type administrators, the value of the three contrasting models begins to emerge. Among all three models, the academic type administrators exhibit the lowest percentages of collegiate administrative positions. Relative to the Dualism model, the Mintzberg and CUPA models exhibit greater differentiation of the data. This is most obvious with the results yielded by the Support Service (Mintzberg) and Student Support Service (CUPA) career fields. It appears that support service type administrators have held much lower percentage of non-collegiate positions than the Technocratic administrators (Mintzberg) or Administrative and External administrators (CUPA).

Similarly, the greater differentiation among the non-academic type administrators afforded by the Mintzberg and CUPA models is evidenced in the other nonacademic career fields. External administrators

(CUPA) held a relatively low percentage of collegiate non-administrative positions but relatively high noncollegiate positions. In terms of career field characteristics, the External administrators (CUPA) have high permeability with the non-collegiate market, whereas the Support Service administrators (CUPA) tend to exhibit greater external permeability in the collegiate non-administrative area.

Figure 2 further elaborates on the differences in career patterns among the various types of non-collegiate sources. Support Service (Mintzberg) and Student Support Service (CUPA) type administrators exhibit about twice the percentage of teacher positions as any of the other career fields. Non-collegiate teaching existed in about the same proportion for all the other categories, including the academic categories. And support service type administrators have very similar patterns to academic administrators in the "non-collegiate (other)" category, which includes most of the positions from government and industry. Bγ contrast, the Technocratic (Mintzberg) and the Administrative and External (CUPA) administrators exhibit a relatively high level of positions from government and industry. The Technocratic (Mintzberg) and Administrative (CUPA) fields, relative to all the other career fields, had higher levels of military experience.

Figure 2

### EXTERNAL PERMEABILITY: NON-COLLEGIATE SOURCES

TOTAL	23.8 36.6 **	01.13 01.13 01.14 01.14 02 02 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04	でまま。 1.1.0 でです。 でです。
NON-COLLEGIATE (OTHER)	15.0 a 24.0 a	14.7 % 14.0 % 27.3 %	4 4 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
MILITARY	01 -4 24 0- 84 84	5 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	1、1、1 1、1 1、1 1、1 1、1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
TEACHERS	بع من م.م م من	ດ້ ເປັນ 254 154 154 254 154 154	1 54 54 マ い ウ - イ イ ウ
	DUALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTR. EXTERNAL

Figure 3

# EXTERNAL PERMEABILITY: COLLEGIATE NON-ADMINISTRATIVE SOURCES

TOTAL	53.4 30.3 3	53.9 % 31.1 % 8 8 %	9 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
OTHER	93 94 	84.85.85 지구 4 지지 7	ымол Ирго 1991-0 1991-0
FACULTY	87 EE 17 - 19 17 - 10 17 - 11 17 - 111 17 - 11 17 - 11	00 − 7 00 − 14 00 − 14 00 − 10	で 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
DEPARTMENT CHAIR	00.1 برید ۱۳۵۸	54 54 54 9 9 1 - 7 68	50 - 0 0 
STAFF OTHER	10°4 10°4 10°4	949494 0-1-1-1 11-1-1	1117 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
	DUALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT

However, in terms of all the other categories of career positions, military experience was conspicuously low. Respondent bias and researcher coding methods may have contributed to this effect. Because the survey was ostensibly collecting information about collegiate experiences, respondents may not have elaborated on military experience. The coding of certain types of career experiences, such as military and collegiate teaching, pose unique problems that may contribute to bias. Should each rank be treated as a unique employment position? Should the military experience that was held concomitantly with other employment (military reserves or National Guard) be counted as separate employment positions? Coding of the original surveys and coding at the analysis may have biased military experience.

The elaboration of the collegiate non-administrative positions in Figure 3 provides a very unexpected insight, namely, a relatively high percentage of faculty positions within the Mintzberg Technocratic (13.5%) and the CUPA Administrative (15.0%) models. By contrast, the External (CUPA) field has the least proportion of collegiate non-administrative experiences with only 4.3% faculty and 0.0% department chair positions. Relative to the academic career fields, all the non-academic career fields have high percentages of "staff other" and

"other" positions, the implications of which will be explored later in this chapter.

To summarize the results of the analysis of external permeability, the academic career fields appeared the least permeable, or most impermeable, to non-collegiate sources. In this way, but to a somewhat lesser degree, the support service fields were similar to the academic administrators; and most of the difference between academic administrators and support service administrators on external permeability is explainable in terms of the high percentage of noncollegiate teaching positions held by the latter. Support service administrators boasted the greatest percentage of collegiate administrative positions. The similarity between academic type administrators and support service administrators extended to high permeability to collegiate non-administrative positions. Once "staff other" positions are factored out of collegiate non-administrative category, the support service field appears to have the least overall degree of external permeability.

### Internal Sources of Permeability

The notion of internal permeability relates to the degree to which career patterns have developed within collegiate administrative fields. Three tests were

applied: (1) how many positions remained in a noninterrupted line of the same career field; (2) how many just remained in the same field (but not necessarily in an uninterrupted line); and (3) what extent and by what sources have career fields been interrupted.

As observed in the previous discussion of external permeability, the proportion of collegiate administrative positions to the total number of career positions is quite low. Consequently, the sources of external permeability tend to mask career patterns internal to collegiate administration. The previous analysis identified the types and magnitudes of sources. The analysis, however, could not identify fully the relative location of external sources in the career histories. That is, the analysis did not distinguish whether the external positions were held before the respondents entered collegiate administration or whether the external positions interrupted the respondents' collegiate administrative careers.

To study collegiate administrative patterns <u>per se</u> it is necessary first to eliminate sources of external permeability, i.e. all sources of collegiate nonadministrative positions and all non-collegiate employment positions. Figure 4 indicates the number of positions that were initially "in the same line" and "in the same field" before the sources of external permea-

bility have been winnowed out. As might be expected from the low percentage of collegiate administrative positions discussed above, the ratio of "in-line" and "in-field" positions to total career positions is very low indeed. Overall, support service type administrators demonstrate the highest percentage of collegiate administrative career positions, yet not significantly greater. It clearly confirms that collegiate administration, as a whole, lacks well defined career structure.

Figure 4

### IN-LINE/IN-FIELD FOR ALL CAREER POSITIONS

TOTAL TOTAL	121 (16.67) 250 (28.87)	118 (16.3%) 51 (26.4%) 128 (18.8%)	116 (16.2%) 125 (21.3%) 29 (20.7%) 35 (22.9%)
TOTAL IN-LINE	98 (13.5%) 203 (23.4%)	94 (13.07) 39 (20.27) 105 (15.47)	94 (13.1%) 100 (17.0%) 22 (15.7%) 28 (18.3%)
TOTAL POSITIONS	727 869	722 193 681	715 588 140 153
	DĽALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT

Figure 5

# After Sources of Internal Permeability Removed: In-Line and In-Field Positions Contrasted with Total Collegiate Administrator Positions

	TOTAL ADMINISTRATOR POSITIONS	STAYED IN LINE	STAYED IN FIELD
DUALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	165 286	115 (69.7 %) 241 (84.3 %)	12! (73.3 %) 250 (87.4 %)
MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	165 73 213	112 (67.9 %) 47 (64.4 %) 123 (57.7 %)	118 (71.5 %) 51 (69.9 %) 128 (60.1 %)
CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	162 181 50 58	110 (67.9 %) 117 (64.6 %) 26 (52.0 %) 32 (55.2 %)	116 (71.6 %) 125 (69.1 %) 29 (58.0 %) 35 (60.3 %)

Stated differently, the high proportion of external career positions tends to mask any career patterns internal to collegiate adminstration. Figure 5 provides the results of the process of stripping away sources of external permeability, thereby allowing much clearer observation of some internal career patterns.

Several interesting characteristics of collegiate administrative careers are accentuated as a result of the stripping away process. First, the Dualism model shows clearly that a higher percentage of academic administrators had held non-academic administrative positions than vice versa. Greater than one out of every four collegiate administrative positions that academic administrators (as a group) had held were nonacademic positions.

Second, whereas there appears to be only a small percentage of non-academic administrators who have held academic administrator positions, there appears to be a much greater degree of movement within the non-academic career fields. The lower percentages among the nonacademic administrators within the career fields of the Mintzberg and CUPA models indicate clearly a higher degree of internal permeability. This is particularly true of the Technocratic (Mintzberg) and the External (CUPA) and Student Support Service (CUPA) fields. The Support Service (Mintzberg) and the Administrative

(CUPA) fields very closely resemble the low permeability of the academic career fields.

Third, the number of administrators who "stayed in line" was quite close to the those who "stayed in field". Figure 6, below, expresses the correspondence between the two in terms of a percentage. The extremely high correspondence points to the location of internal permeability: most changes in career fields tend to take place early in administrators's careers. Put differently, once collegiate administrators have entered a career field, they are less likely to change career fields.

¢
ų e
л Ц
- <b>- -</b>
ы.

# COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE POSITIONS "IN LINE" AND "IN FIELD"

	IN-1. INE	CLELD	RATIO OF IN-LINE TO IN-FIELD
DUALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	115 241	121 250	95.0 M 86.4 J
MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	112 47 123	118 51 128	9000 1000 1000 1000
CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	110 117 32	116 29 35	96986 1990 1997 1998 1998 1998 1998 1998 1998 1998

### Internal Permeability: Sources of Career Disruption

Another measure of permeability is the degree to which career patterns are disrupted by external sources of permeability, by (1) non-collegiate sources and (2) by collegiate non-administrative.

The overall patterns of career disruption are somewhat surprising. Given the high proportion of noncollegiate administrative positions to total career positions, one might reasonably assume that the noncollegiate administrative positions would be distributed throughout respondents. That is, one might expect to find a high incidence of collegiate administrators taking non-collegiate-administrative positions and then returning to college administration. Instead, as shown below in Figure 7, there appears to be overall a very low incidence of career disruption.

Figure 7

### INCIDENCE OF NON-COLLEGIATE-ADMINISTRATIVE POSITIONS INTERVENING IN COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE CAREERS

	TOTAL CAREER POSITIONS	TOTAL	PERCENTAGE DISRUPTIONS
DUALISM MODEL ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	727 869	29 37	≥4 ≥4 00 O t- t-
MINTZBERG MODEL ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	722 193 681	29 31 31	94 %4 %4 Q. Q. ₹- Q. ¢.
CUPA MODEL ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	715 588 150 153	ი დ 5 5 5 5	ት ምር ምር ት ማድም ት ማድም ት ማድም ት ማድም

Figures 12 and 13 provide a refined view of the career disruption information. The incidence of disruption is not uniform; rather it appears to follow some of the same patterns discussed in the foregoing analysis. Military positions appear to be a negligible source of career disruption. That non-collegiate sources of career disruption appear exceptionally low could be predicted. The higher levels of "non-collegiate (other)" positions in the Technocratic (Mintzberg), the Administrative (CUPA) and the External (CUPA) fields are parallelled here with high disruption patterns in the "non-collegiate (other)" category. The obverse, though, appeared to hold for collegiate teaching positions among the Technocratic (Mintzberg) and the Administrative (CUPA) fields: in the external permeability analysis these fields stood out among the nonacademic fields with high percentages of collegiate faculty positions, but Figure 9 indicates low incidence of disruption.

The patterns of the support service fields Support Service (Mintzberg) and Student Support Service (CUPA) approximate those of the academic administrator fields, perhaps lending credence to Mintzberg's observation that the support service area of academic organization exhibit characteristics of the dominant area, the academic administrators.

Figure 8

### NON-COLLECIATE SOURCES OF CAREER DISRUPTION

ICALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	MILITARY 0.1 7 0.1 2	NON-COLLEGIATE (OTHER) 0.8 % 3.0 %	TOTAL 0.9 % 3.1 %
BERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	N 96 90 - 0 0 0 0 0	0 M	1 - 1 - 0 0 - 0 - 0 1 - 1 - 0 1 -
ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	0000 0000 0000	0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	- M M CI 0 V D D 1 K B K B K B K

### Figure 9

## COULECIATE FACULTY SOURCE OF CAREER DISRUPTION

### FACULTY

DEALTSM ACADEMIC	3.0	₩C
NON-ACADEMIC		₽-C
MINTZBERG		
ACADEMIC	3.0	हर
SUPPORT SERVICE	9.1	<b>F</b> 2
TECHNOCRATIC	1.0	B∙€
CUPA		
ACADEMIC	3.1	
ADMINISTRATIVE	1.2	
EXTERNAL	0.0	ዮደ
STUDENT SUPPORT	2.0	₽~?

### OTHER INTERPRETATIONS

The basic purpose of this study was to determine the extent to which career fields exist among collegiate administrators. For analytical purposes, the design initially limited definition of collegiate administrator career fields to a definable set of collegiate administrative titles. Collegiate non-administrative and noncollegiate positions entered the analysis as external influences.

The foregoing analysis, as well as previous studies, suggests that special consideration should be given to include certain "external sources" in the analysis. This section contains the results of the analysis of three such sources: (1) non-categorized positions, such as "staff other"; (2) collegiate faculty and department chairpersons; and (3) non-collegiate teachers and school personnel.

### Non-Categorized Positions

That collegiate institutions tend to lack the standardization of a bureaucracy--a point made earlier in the context of a general discussion of organizational models--is evidenced by the collegiate positions that do not fit into the career positions employed in this study.

The categories of "staff other" and "other" point to the difficulty of conducting this type of research on a dynamic organizational area as higher education administration. New job titles and job responsibilities are constantly being created. The lower incidence of "staff other" and "other" titles among the career histories of academic administrators may be an extension of the already observed attribute of the "academic" career field, namely, that academic administrators tend to be a more homogeneous group who remain in their career field. But it may also point to the relative stability of academic administration, i.e. not as open to the creation of new positions.

By contrast, the higher percentages of "staff other" and "other" titles among non-academic administrators (Figure 10) would seem to indicate an evolving field because an evolving field would by its very nature exhibit a higher level of permeability. Are the higher percentages attributable to greater permeability or to the imprecision of our measurements? The answer may be both.

Figure 10

	TOTAL	7.8 16.0		ר טיאם סיטיטי פאימיניט ווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווו
COLLEGIATE NON-CAREER FIELD POSITIONS	OTHER	2.2 3.1 %	0.01 m 01 - 1 - 1 97 95 95	0.000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 200
COLLECIATE NON-CA	STAFF OTHER	15.6 12.9 26	С 17.1 11.6 11.6	り   1 - 1 - 1 り - 1 - 0 で り て 日 つ
		DLALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT

Collegiate Faculty and Department Chairpersons

Scott (1979a) had mused that academic administrators were "amateurs" because their actual collegiate administrative experience tended to be more limited than their non-academic counterparts. Scott had not included the department chairperson experience because that position has a strong faculty component; it is not wholly administrative. This study followed Scott in that same logic.

However, the career linkage between academic administrators, department chairpersons, and collegiate faculty is so well established in previous studies as to warrant consideration of a broader definition of career field. Figure 11 provides evidence that, if the department chairperson positions are considered as collegiate administrators, academic administrators career experiences nearly equal most of the categories of nonacademic administrators.

Figure 12 demonstrates that when both department chairperson and faculty positions are calculated, the value of a broader definition of collegiate career fields becomes more obvious.

By the same logic, the higher proportion of the collegiate unclassified positions and certain noncollegiate career sources among non-academic administrators perhaps should be considered part of

their career fields. This is addressed in the next section.

Figure !!

# COMBINED COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE AND DEPARTMENT CHAIRPERSONS

	COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE	DEPARTMENT Chair	TOTAL
DUALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	22.7 % 32.9 %	8. 5. 5. 7. 5.4 7. 5.4	5-1-5- 5-1-5- 3-1-5-3 3-1-5-5-3-4 3-1-5-5-4 3-1-5-5-4 3-1-5-5-5-4 3-1-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-5-
MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	277 27 27 20 27 20 27 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	よって 2011月 2011月 2011月	う よ り り で で で で で で で の よ う で
CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	22.7 3 30.7 3 35.7 3 37.9 2	6010 100 1000 1010 1010 1010 1010 1010	1004 407 407 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204

Figure 12

## TOTAL COLLECIATE ADMINISTRATORS, DEPARTMENT CHAIRPERSONS, AND FACULTY RELATED POSITIONS

	COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE	DEPARTMENT CHAIRPERSONS	FACULTY	TOTAL
DUALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	01 EU 	  *** **	34 10 10 10	608 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 1
MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	50 mm 50 mm	a 1	20.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0	₩ № № 
CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	2 0 0 0 7 7 7 7 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84	80-00 10-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-	8× 8× 8× 8× 8× 	ымым ФО170 

111

### Non-Collegiate Teachers and School Personnel

Non-collegiate teaching poses a challenge to a strict division of careers into collegiate and noncollegiate. When non-collegiate teaching positions are added to collegiate administrative and collegiate nonadministrative positions an interesting picture develops. Overall, a very high percentage of collegiate administrators' careers have been spent in education related work. Further, when non-collegiate teaching positions are added in, the support service fields in the Mintzberg and CUPA models exceed the academic administrator fields in terms of the percentage of total career positions.

Figure 13

# ALL EDUCATION RELATED POSITIONS (INCLUDING TEACHERS)

	COLLEGIATE ADMINISTRATIVE	COLLEGIATE NON-ADMINISTRATIVE	TEACHERS	TOTAL
DLALISM ACADEMIC NON-ACADEMIC	P2 F2 マーク・ マーク・ マーク・	50.4 20.0 20.0	400 64 64 64 64	88 85 
MINTZBERG ACADEMIC SUPPORT SERVICE TECHNOCRATIC	21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 2	ດດີ ດີດ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ສະຫະ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ມີ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ່ ທີ	ດ. ເ ** ** **	2009年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949年 1949 1949
CUPA ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATIVE EXTERNAL STUDENT SUPPORT	2000 2005 2005 2005 2000 2000 2000 2000	0.1.1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0	ちっしん ようりん そうごまにま	80-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10-18 10 10 10-18 10 10 10-18 10 10 10-18 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

### CHAPTER V

### DISCUBBION AND CONCLUSIONS

To what extent have distinct career patterns developed in collegiate administration? If so, in what areas?

At what level can career patterns be studied most effectively? Is career line a useful concept for collegiate administration? Career field?

Do any of the conventional or theoretical organizational models match career patterns? To what extent do experienced people working in higher education agree on the location of specific positions in these organizational models?

The primary purpose of this study was to examine the career patterns of collegiate administrators in terms of three organizational models. A secondary purpose was to introduce and evaluate the concepts of career fields and permeability for the study of career patterns and organizations in general. Of the three models, one was conventional (Dualism), the second was drawn from organizational theory (Mintzberg) and the last had been previously developed as the basis for a

periodic national survey of collegiate administrators (CUPA).

To test the suitability of each model for studying career patterns, the subdivisions of each model were treated as the basic unit of study, the "career fields." An initial assignment of titles to models was necessary to analyze the administrators' career histories in terms of job titles. To guard against researcher bias, the assignment of titles to each of the subdivisions, or "career fields", of the three models, was carried out by an impartial group of collegiate administrators utilizing a Q Sort process. With titles thus assigned, each respondent's career history was then analyzed with respect to his/her current career field.

This chapter discusses and interprets the research findings of the Q Sort process and the permeability analyses. The chapter is divided into five sections. The first section is a review of the results of the Q Sort process and their implications for the subsequent analysis and the study in general. The second section entails a discussion of the career field characteristics of the three models. The third section treats the limitations of the study in terms of the target population, the methods employed, and the generalizations that can be drawn from this study about collegiate administrators' career patterns. The final section is

a broad discussion the implications of the study for the development of theory and for practical application.

### Q SORT PROCEDURE

The Q Sort procedure served two essential purposes. First, it provided an initial assignment of titles to the three organizational models. This was necessary because this study covered a wider range of positions than previous studies of collegiate administrator career patterns. Most studies had focussed on a particular position, most often the college presidency, or a narrow range of positions. The division of administrators into academic and non-academic was implicit in even the broader studies; likewise, the assignment of particular position titles to one or the other of what has been described herein as the career fields of the Dualism model was made on the basis of conventional knowledge.

Of the three models in this study, only the CUPA model had actually had titles assigned to the categories. Because the CUPA studies from which the CUPA model was adapted did not cover the range of titles of the current study and because the initial assignment of titles by the CUPA organization was not done on the basis of any theoretical model, the assignment of titles by the Q Sort process was included also for the CUPA model.

Second, the Q Sort procedure provides initial insights about the shape of the career fields,

particularly the degree to which positions are viewed as affiliated with one field or linked to more than one field. As such, the Q Sort procedure itself can serve as an exploratory device for the creation of new organizational theory.

The most definite result of the Q Sort procedure was in the general area of academic administrators. The position titles that were categorized as academic found a high degree of consensus among panel members both within specific models, but more importantly, across the several models. That the Dualism model exhibited the greatest degree of consensus tends to confirm the implicit assumption of previous studies that academic administrators exist as a well defined group vis-'a-vis non-academic administrators.

The panel exhibited a lesser degree of consensus on the lower level academic administrator positions, particularly at the associate dean and assistant dean levels. In the Mintzberg model, associate dean positions inclined slightly towards the Support Service field; in the CUPA model, both associate dean and assistant dean positions inclined towards the Administrative. Three assistant dean positions under the CUPA model actually were categorized as Administrative, but were strongly inclined towards the Academic field.

Are lower level positions less attached to a career

field than higher level positions? If so, is this characteristic of all fields of collegiate administration or just the academic field? A definitive answer would require the examination of particular positions, a level of analysis not included in this study because it would require a much larger target population. This study chose the career field as its unit of study. However, the question can be partially answered by looking at the non-academic career fields within the Mintzberg and CUPA models. For the most part, lower level non-academic positions were categorized within the same career field as the higher level positions. It would appear thus to be a characteristic particular to academic administrators.

A surprising result was the relatively small size of the Support Service field within the Mintzberg model. Mintzberg, himself, had theorized that the academic administrator area would be large due to the differentiation of academic disciplines and the need to represent these disciplines with dean, associate dean and assistant dean positions. The breadth of the Academic administrator field would have been even greater had academic department chairpersons been included as administrators in the study. However, Mintzberg had also theorized that, relative to the Technocratic field, would be quite large but generally

flat: the highest level position would be, for the most part, the directorship. He theorized that the Technocratic field would be the converse: it would be relatively small, but it would include more higher level positions. The results of the Q Sort support Mintzberg's prediction concerning the degree of vertical shape. However, the size of the Technocratic fields relative to the Technocratic explicitly contradicts Mintzberg's theory.

One explanation could be that in addition to technical, control oriented positions having been created in the last two decades, many non-academic collegiate administrative positions have become more control oriented, more technocratic. Although a definitive answer to this would require historical data that was not available, the lack of panel consensus on a number of the titles under the Technocratic field would support the view that many former Support Service type positions have taken on technocratic type responsibilities in the last few years. This view is also supported by the unusual division between the upper level and lower level positions in some areas such as admissions and housing. Further, the fact that most to the titles under the Technocratic (Mintzberg) field coincide with the Administrative (CUPA) field lends credence to this interpretation.

The Q Sort highlights the genre of positions that collectively can be called the "assistant to" positions. These positions, which has grown substantially in number in recent years, have tended to be rather "ad hoc". Often, they have been created for a specific person or to meet a specific need that cannot be addressed easily within the confines of formal organizational structure. As such, one would expect a greater degree of ambiguity concerning career field location and greater emphasis on technical, administrative aspects. The findings were consistent with this expectation with respect to the two positions that are aligned with academic administrators, the "Assistant to an Academic Dean" and the "Assistant to the President".

However, the one case of a position aligned with a non-academic administrator, the "Assistant to the Chief Student Life Officer", did not exhibit the pattern of the academic "assistant to" positions. The same appears to be true of non-academic "staff - other" positions: they are closely aligned with their particular administrative functional area. One explanation may derive from the observation by Scott (1979a) that the primary emphasis of academic and non-academic administrators is fundamentally different. Non-academic administrators tend to be hired and promoted primarily on administrative experience in a particular functional area, such

as admissions or financial aid. But for academic administrators, a primary emphasis is prior experience in non-administrative collegiate areas, particularly collegiate teaching. The emphasis is on conserving the academic value system rather than promoting administrative competency.

In the next section, the characteristics of the career fields that were defined with the Q Sort procedure are reviewed and discussed.

### CAREER FIELD CHARACTERISTICS

In general, no career field within collegiate administration appears to have evolved as a tightly structured career entity when measured in terms collegiate administrative experience relative to total employment history. Support Service (Mintzberg) and Student Support Service (CUPA) fields had the highest percentage of collegiate administrative positions, yet the percentage didn't exceed 38 percent. All the career fields, except the two aforementioned support service fields, had a higher percentage of non-collegiate employment positions than collegiate administrative positions. At the aggregate level, the data reveals little in the way of career patterns.

However, the difficulty may lie with the lack of sophistication of guestions relating to careers. Should we assume that all areas of collegiate administration should exhibit the same career patterns? Should collegiate non-administrative experience be included or excluded in the study of career patterns? What constitutes "external" work experience?

This study did not assume that all career fields would have, or should have, the same characteristics. Consequently, the several levels of analyses carried out in this study rendered results that indicate some

definite yet varied patterns.

One general finding was that most of the noncollegiate employment experience was before the respondents entered collegiate administration. There is little indication that collegiate administrators in any career field tend to go back into government and/or industry and then return. What was found was that administrators tend to hold a significant number of concomitant employment positions which are difficult to categorize. Should concomitant employment be considered "non-collegiate"? How should military reserve and national guard experience be categorized?

Another similar finding was that support service type administrators tend to have career field characteristics similar to academic administrators. Both have a low percentage of non-collegiate positions, particularly business/government and military positions. Both had relatively high percentages of teaching experience, academic administrators at the collegiate level and support service administrators at the elementary/ secondary level. Academic and support service administrators exhibited the highest and very similar patterns on the "in line" and "in field" measures of internal permeability.

These findings concerning academic and support service administrators reinforce the results of the Q

Sort analysis. Both appear to be well defined career fields in which combined collegiate experience (collegiate administrative plus collegiate non-administrative employment positions). As such, these findings support Mintzberg's observation that support service administrators share the values of the dominant part of collegiate organizations, the academicians.

The results from the permeability analyses concerning the Technocratic (Mintzberg) and Administrative (CUPA) and External (CUPA) also tend to support the Q Sort procedure. These fields exhibit greater heterogeneity in terms of non-collegiate employment experience, greater levels of disruption from noncollegiate sources and lower measures of "in line" and "in field" experience. A more detailed examination of specific positions that is beyond the scope of this study is needed to determine more specific characteristics of these administrators. ors.

### LINITATIONS

This study was a departure from previous research which had tended to study collegiate administrators in a very limited scope, divorced from organizational theory. Due to the breadth of its object of study, the application of three organizational models, and the introduction of more refined analytical concepts and methods, the study was necessarily somewhat exploratory in nature. The results must be viewed in light of this exploratory intent and the limitations of its data source.

The paucity of career pattern studies, particularly among collegiate administrators, required that the results be interpreted mostly internally. What would be a tightly structured career pattern? To what extent have career lines and career fields developed in government or industry? Have other institutional types that exhibit organizational characteristics similar to collegiate organizations, exhibit similar career patterns?

Even the previous studies that had been conducted often had failed to report essential operational definitions. Previous studies nowhere have addressed what work experience positions were included, how concomitant employment was handled, or whether different

ranks of academic faculty positions or military service were treated as single or separate entities.

The study used as its unit of study the career field rather than administrative positions themselves. Consequently, only in the Q Sort procedure could any direct measure of boundary positions be gleaned. А further quantitative study with a larger, target population would be needed to explore more in depth any internal career paths to specific positions within a field or to what extent a particular position in a mainstay or borderline in a field. A longitudinal study would be needed to determine if, and to what extent, a particular career field is evolving into another, such as support service administrators becoming more technocratic. A qualitative study could serve to explore the understanding that collegiate administrators themselves have of their careers.

The results also must be interpreted in light of the limitation of the data source. Although the mail survey that was utilized had a high response rate and objective information, such as career histories, have been shown to have a high rate of validity, the small, localized data set compromises generalizability. Due to the relatively small size of the target population, this study did not attempt to examine career fields in terms of institutional type, sex, race, or age of respondent.

To what extent are Virginia administrators representative of the national population of administrators? To what degree are the institutional types in Virginia typical of the United States as a whole?

A constraint of a more general nature relates to the use of position titles for study of career patterns. Institutions of higher education, taken as a whole, do not tend to have consistency of titles, particularly at the upper levels of collegiate administration. More importantly, the titles tend to vary in terms of job responsibilities from institution to institution, or even within a given institution. Partially this may reflect the diversity of work from functional area to functional. But to a great degree it reflects the distinctive organizational character of colleges and universities. Much to the chagrin of the organizational theorist and the researcher, they tend to be organic in character rather than bureaucratic. That is, they tend to grow and define themselves by convention rather than as the result of specific planning and control as in a bureaucracy.

However, use of position titles are justified, if not essential because they represent the way administrators themselves understand their careers. Over time, position titles tend to become more well defined, particularly as professional organizations develop in

the functional area (Scott, 1978). Newly emerging titles and functional areas may tend to be less defined, or at least less understood by other collegiate administrators. The lack of consensus among the Q Sort panelists on some titles, such as the "assistant to" positions, may be illustrative of this. An area for future study could be a contrast of newly emerging titles with "older, more conventional" positions in a career field.

### THEORETICAL AND PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

Careers of collegiate administrators, as with any other group, take place within an organizational context. Whenever they apply for administrative positions, a complex of organizational values are involved. Previous studies of collegiate administrator careers have tended to ignore or take for granted the larger organizational context. This was acceptable because the focus tended to be narrow, most often on a relatively small, homogeneous area of study. Most often college presidents or other higher level academic administrators were the subjects. When non-academic administrators were studied, most often the unit of study was a particular, well established position, such as admission director.

Studies of narrow, homogeneous groups render more conclusive results, but lack the breadth that is essential in the development of organizational theory. This study chose to study collegiate administrators in a very, broad fashion using three organizational models. It necessarily had to define the subunits of the organizational models--what was herein deemed "career fields"--in terms of specific titles. Previous studies had only implicitly defined career fields in terms of the conventional understanding of collegiate

administration, that is, in terms of the academic/nonacademic dualism. Or in the case of the CUPA studies, an organizational model was superimposed on collegiate administration to facilitate their surveys.

In terms of theory, this study affirms the value of the conventional understanding of collegiate administrators as being naturally divided into two groups. By contrasting it with the other two models, the study demonstrated the value of viewing non-academic administrators in an organizationally differentiated way. It introduced organizational subunits, or "career fields", within the non-academic ranks.

Specifically, the study demonstrated that support service type administrators tend to be a distinct group with many of career characteristics of academic administrators. Further, the study raised issues about how collegiate organizations develop their internal structures. In the broadest sense, the study raised the question of whether career structures should be included in development of organizational theory.

On the practical level, the study points to the existence of structures that individuals should consider before embarking on careers in collegiate administration. Conventional wisdom has long held that faculty teaching experience would be almost essential for anyone contemplating academic administration and that non-

collegiate experience could actually be detrimental. This study affirms that conventional wisdom.

Less conventional wisdom has been available for individuals interested in collegiate administration <u>per</u> <u>se</u>, who did not want to pursue collegiate teaching first. This study pointed out that support service administration has a greater career field structure, but that structure tends to top out at the director level. The study raised the important question, but did not show, that advancement beyond the director level may entail moving into a distinctively different, more technically oriented career field in which previous experience in the field may be more important than formal, technical education.

APPENDIX A

Q SORT RESULTS FOR DUALISM MODEL

DUALISM MODEL	FIELD
F U SORT:	ACADEMIC F
RESULTS OF	

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
CHIEF EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT	Q	(m
CHIEF ACADEMIC OFFICER (PROVOST)	<u>ь</u>	0
ASSOCIATÉ ACADEMIC OFFICER	σ	0
ASSISIANT ACADEMIC VICE PRESIDENT	Ф	c
DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	o	0
DEAN - AÁS; ARIS & LETTERS	თ	a
DEAN - BUSINESS	Φ	0
DEAN - CONTINUING EDUCATION	σ	0
DEAN - EDUCATION	6	0
DEAN - ENGINEERING	σ	0
DEAN - FINE ARTS	đ	o
DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAM	œ	
DEAN - HEALTH RELATED	6	a

DUALISM MODEL	
् sort:	
IO SITA	
RESULI	

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
DEAN - HUME ECON	6	0
DEAN - LAW	6	0
DEAN - MEDICINE	6	0
DEAN - NURSING	σ	Ð
DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	6	0
DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	r.	61
DEAN + TECHNOLOGY	6	o
DEAN - VETERINARY MEDICINE	6	0
DEAN + OTHER	6	0
ASSOC DEAN - AGRICULTURE	σ	C
ASSOC DEAN - AAS	6	D
ASSOC DEAN - BUSINESS	6	o
ASSOC DEAN - CONTINUING EDUCATION	8	1
ASSOC DEAN - EDUCATION	5	C

## RESULTS OF Q SORT: DUALISM MODEL

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
ASSOC DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	σ	G
ASSOC DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	r-s	۲.
ASSOC DEAN - OTHER	Φ	0
ASST DEAN - AGRIGULTURE	œ	
ASST DEAN - AKCHITECTURE	æ	
ASST DEAN - A&S	တ	
ASST DEAN - BUSINESS	αC	
ASSI DEAN - CONTINUING EDECATION	œ	-
ASST DEAN - DENTISTRY	vû	
ASST DEAN - EDUCATION	υC	-
ASST DEAN - ENGINEERING	ø	-
ASST DEAN - HEALTH	œ	
ASST DEAN - LAW	œ	
ASST DEAN - NURSING	œ	_

DUALISM MODEL	
0 SORT:	
RESULTS OF	

TITE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
ASST DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	œ	_
ASST DEAN - OTHER	30	1
ASSISTANT IO DEAN	Ģ	1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER	æ	Т
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (SYSTEM)	æ	1
DEAN - AGRIGULTURE	σ	0
DEAN - DENTISIRY	5	0
DEAN + ENGINEERING	σι	O
DEAN - EVENING DIVISION	ŝ	1
DEAN - EXTENSION	ac	
DEAN - JOURNALISM	σ	0
DEAN - MUSIC	σ	0
DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	œ	_
DEAN - MATURAL RESOURCES	6	ο

### RESULTS OF Q SORT: DUALISM MODEL

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
DEAN - PHARMACY	à	0
DEAN - PHYSICAL EDUCATION	9	0
DEAN + POBILC REALTH	9	0
DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUCATION	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - DENTISTRY	9	Ü
ASSOC DEAN - ENGINEERING	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - EXTENSION	à	0
ASSOC DEAN - FINE ARTS	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAMS	8	1
ASSOC DEAN - HEALTH RELATED	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - HOME ECONOMICS	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - JOURNAL	9	0
ASSOC DEAN - LAB SCHOOL	8	1

MODEL.
DUAL ISM
Q 50RT:
0₽
RESULTS

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADERLC
ASSOC DEAN - LAW	б	C
ASSOC DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	σ	0
ASSOC DEAN - MEDICINE	5	0
ASSOC DEAN - MUSIC	σ	0
ASSOC DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	œ	C
ASSOC DEAN - NURSING	σ	0
ASSOC DEAN - PHARMACY	σ	0
ASSOC DEAN - PHYSICAL EDUCATION	<b>0</b> \	Q
ASSOC DEAN - PUBLIC HEALTH	6	0
ASSOC DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	σ	Ð
ASSOC DEAN - VETERINARY SCIENCE	σ	0
ASSOC DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUCATION	6	O
ASST DEAN - EVENING DIVISION	æ	Т
ASST DEAN - EXTENSION	8	_

## RESULTS OF Q SORI: DUALISM MODEL

IITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
ASST DEAN - FINE ARTS	ac	
ASST DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAMS	90	1
ASST DEAN - HOME ECONOMICS	æ	_
ASST DEAN - JOURNALISM	x	_
ASST DEAN - LIBKARY SCIENCE	ac;	_
ASST DEAN - MEDICINE	Ø	_
ASST DEAN - MUSIC	ಶು	. 1
ASST DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	<b>3</b> 0	r: 1
ASST DEAN - PHARMACY	æ	1
ASST DEAN + PHYSICAL EDUCATION	υO	1
ASST DEAN - PUBLIC HEALTH	ဆ	1
ASST DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	P~-	Ċ1
ASST DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	ω	I

NON-ACADEMIC	Ι	_
ACADEMIC	æ	œ
ні	ASST DEAN - VETERINARY SCIENCE	ASST DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
TITLE	ASS.	ASS'

TITLE	<u>ACADEMLC</u>	NON-ACADEMIC
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER	-1	ω
ASSISTANT TO THE PRESIDENT	1	n
ASST TO CHIEF ACADEMIC OFFICER	÷	ç
DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH	r1	P-c
DIRECTOR OF LIBRARIES	-1	1~
CHIEF BUSINESS OFFICER	С	ar.
CHIEF BUDGET OFFICER	0	σ.
CHIEF DEVELOPMENT OFFICER	C	a,
CHIEF PUBLIC RELATIONS	0	б.
DIRECTOR, INFORMATION OFFICE	C	đ
DIRECTOR, COMPUTER CENTER	0	on.
AFFIRM ACTION/EQUAL	0	σ
STAFF LEGAL OFFICER	с	σ
CHIEF STUDEN: LIFE OFFICER	0	¢

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
ASST TO CHIEF STUDENT LIFE OFFICER	0	œ.
DEAN OF STUDENTS	o	6
ASSOCIATE DEAN OF STUDENTS	0	6
ASSISTANT DEAN OF STUDENTS	0	6
DIR/DEAN OF ADMISSIONS	0	6
DIRECTOR, STUDENT PLACEMENT	0	6
DIR, FINANCIAL AID	0	6
DIR, STUD, HOUSING	С	<del>р</del>
DIR, STUD COUNSELING	£1	۲۰.
STUDENT LIFE OFFICER - OTHER	0	6
<b>DIR, ALUMNI AFFAIRS</b>	С	5
DIR, EDUCATION MEDIA SERVICES	m	÷€
STAFF OTHER - MEDICINE	0	6
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR ADMISSIONS	0	6

TITLE	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
ASSOC/ASST COMPTROLLER	C	6
ASSOC/ASST DIR. OF DEVELOPMENT	0	σ
COMPTROLLER	0	σ
DIRECTOR, PERSONNEL SERVICES	¢	6
DIRECTOR, INFO. SYS./INST. RESEARCH	0	a.
DIRECTOR OF ATHLETICS		an
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR ATHLETICS		æ
DIRECTOR, COMMUNITY SERVICES	Ð	6
REGISTRAR	0	o,
DEAN OF WOMEN	1	90
DEAN OF MEN	ц	æ
DIRECTOR, SCIENTIFIC LAB	. <b>-1</b>	ç
STAFF OTHER - DEVELOPMENT	С	ъ,
DEAN OF ADMINISTRATION	0	6

	ACADEMIC	NON-ACADEMIC
ASSOC/ASSI DIR OF PLACEMENT	С	6
ASSOC/ASST DIR FINANCIAL AID	Э	6
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR OF HOUSING	¢	σ

APPENDIX B

Q SORT RESULTS FOR MINTZBERG MODEL.

RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZBERG MODEL.

ACADEMIC FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	TROPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
CHIEF EXEC. VICE PRESIDENT	υŭ	_	0
CHIEF ACAD. OFFICER (PROVOST)	цс	Π	o
ASSOCIATE ACADEMIC OFFICER	ыс	_	c
ASSISTANT ACAD. VICE PRESIDENT	2	П	_
DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	6	0	Ċ
DEAN - AAS; ARTS & LETTERS	<del>ن</del>	0	0
DEAN - BUSINESS	σ	0	0
DEAN - CONTINUING EDUCATION	1-~	C4	Э
DEAN - EDUCATION	6	ð	Ö
DEAN - ENGINEERING	6	0	Ċ
DEAN - FINE ARTS	Ð	0	0
DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAM	æ	o	Π
DEAN - HEALTH RELATED	<del>ر</del> م.	Ó	¢
DEAN - HOME ECON	6	C	c

NODEL
MINTZBERG
SORT:
оғ
RESULTS

TITE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
DEAN - LAW	6	0	C
DEAN - MEDICINE	ው	Ο	G
DEAN - NURSING	6	0	O
DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	6	Ċ	c
DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	r~	c	e I
DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	σ	0	0
DEAN - VETERINARY MEDICINE	б	0	0
DEAN - OTHER	σ	Ο	0
ASSOC DEAN - AGRICULTURE	15	61	o
ASSOC DEAN - AAS	t	~1	0
ASSOC DÉAN - BUSINESS	7	~1	0
ASSOC DEAN - CONTINUING ED.	2	61	C
ASSOC DEAN - EDUCATION	15	61	0
ASSOC DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	- ۲	C a	Ð

# RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZBERG MODEL

#### ACADEMIC FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
ASSOC DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	ç	m	¢
ASSOC DEAN - OTHER	r-s	C-1	0
ASST DEAN - AGRICULTURE	Q	ň	c
ASST DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	Ð	'n	o
ASST DEAN - A&S	ę	m	0
ASST DEAN - BUSINESS	ı		0
ASST DEAN - CONTINUING ED.	Q	'n	Q
ASST DEAN - DENTISTRY	ò	'n	C
ASST DEAN + EDUCATION	¢	m	C
ASST DEAN - ENGINEERING	ą	n	0
ASST DEAN - HEALTH	Ģ	'n	O
ASST DEAN - LAW	ġ	m	0
ASST DEAN - NURSING	Q	n	O
ASST DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	ç	m	D

148

NODEL
MINTZBERG
SORT:
о в о
RESULTS

TITLE	<u>ACADEMI C</u>	THORIS	TECHNOCRATIC
ASST DEAN - OTHER	in	t.	0
ASSISTANT TO DEAN	t~	m	с. 1
CHIEF EXEC. OFFICER	<del>.</del>	0	0
CHIEF EXEX. OFFICER (SYSTEM)	6	٥	D
DEAN - AGRICULTURE	σ	0	¢
DEAN - DENTISTRY	¢	о	0
DEAN - ENGINEERING	6	c	G
DEAN - EVENING DIVISION	œ	0	_
DEAN + EXTENSION	æ	0	
DEAN - JOURNALISM	Φ	o	o
DEAN - MUSIC	6	0	0
DEAN - LIBRAKY SCIENCE	6	٥	С
DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	6	o	0
DEAN - PHARMACY	σ	C	С

# RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZBERG MODEL

TITLE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCKATIC
DEAN - PHYSICAL EDUCATION	¢	0	Ģ
DEAN - PUBILC HEALTH	6	0	0
DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUCATION	6	Q	Q
ASSOC DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	œ	1	0
ASSOC DEAN - DENTISTRY	Q	_	0
ASSOC DEAN - ENGINEERING	90		0
ASSOC DEAN - EXTENSION	æ		C
ASSOC DEAN - FINE ARTS	æ	Ι	C
ASSOC DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAMS	Ľ.	17	Q
ASSOC DEAN - HEALTH RELATED	ø	-	O
ASSOC DEAN - HOME ECONOMICS	з	Γ	0
ASSOC DEAN - JOURNAL	¢		0
ASSOC DEAN - LAB SCHOOL	r~-	~	0
ASSOC DEAN - LAW	œ	-1	0

# RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZAERG MODEL

TITE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
ASSOC DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	œ	4	Ο
ASSOC DEAN - MÉDICINE	æ		C
ASSOC DEAN - MUSIC	œ	-	c
ASSOC DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	œ	Ι	5
ASSOC DEAN - NURSING	30	_	0
ASSOC DEAN - PHARMACY	ø	_	0
ASSOC DEAN - PHYSICAL ED.	က		0
ASSOC DEAN - PUBLIC HEALTH	œ	<b>.</b>	D
ASSOC DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	[**	r1	Q
ASSOC DEAN - VÊTERINARY SCIENC	7	61	0
ASSOC DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUC.	r~	~	a
ASST DEAN - EVENING DIVISION	Ą	m	a
ASST DEAN - EXTENSION	ç	÷	0
ASST DEAN - FINE ARTS	ę	а	0

RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZBERG MODEL

<u>TIT1.F</u>	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
ASST DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAMS	£	ņ	0
ASST DEAN - HOME ECONOMICS	÷	m	c
ASST DEAN - JOURNALISM	£	m	0
ASST DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	ŝ	m	0
ASST DEAN - MEDICINE	Ą	m	0
ASST DEAN - MUSIC	ę	m	o
ASSI DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	9	сл	Q
ASST DEAN - PHARMACY	Ŷ	ריו	0
ASST DEAN - PHYSICAL EDUCATION	æ	m	D
ASST DEAN - PUBLIC HEALTH	Ą	'n	O
ASST DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	Ŷ	e	0
ASST DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	÷	ń	0
ASST DEAN - VETERINARY SCIENDE	Ŷ	Ċ	C
ASST DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUC.	ç	'n	0

# RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZHERG MODEL

## SUPPORT SERVICE FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
CHIEF PUBLIC RELATIONS	с	in.	÷.
CHIEF STU. LIFE OFF.	ο	œ	× 4
ASST TO CHIEF STUDENT LIFE OFF	C	œ	[
DEAN OF STUDENTS	o	œ	l
ASSOCIATE DEAN OF STUDENTS	θ	ю	l
ASSISTANT DEAN OF STUDENTS	с	Г	r1
DIRECTOR, STUDENT PLACEMENT	ο	no	1
DIR, STUD COUNSELING	_	¢	61
STUDENT LIFE OFFICER - OTHER	0	ಖ	1
STAFF OTHER - MEDICINE	0	ث	ň
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR ADMISSIONS	Q	ڡ	Ē
DIRECTOR, COMMUNITY SERVICES	Q	م	ŕ
DEAN OF WOMEN	0	r~	~1
DEAN OF MEN	0	r~	64

# RESULTS OF Q SORT: MINTZBERG MODEL

## SUPPORT SERVICE FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
STAFF OTHER - DEVELOPMENT	O	⊡.	m
ASSOC/ASST DIR OF PLACEMENT	ο	9	ι,
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR OF HOUSING	0	Q.	e

TITLE	ACADEMIC	SUPPORT	TECHNOCRATIC
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER	40		ιř.
ASSISTANT TO THE PRESIDENT	l	-,	œ.
ASST TO CHIEF ACAD. OFFICER	_	ei.	÷
DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH	0	Ċ1	Г
DIRECTOR OF LIBRARIES	m	0	¢
CHIEF BUSINESS OFFICER	0		ac
CHIEF BUDGET OFFICER	o	1	æ
CHIEF DEVELOPMENT OFFICER	o	~	I*
DIRECTOR, INFORMATION OFFICE	٥	7	Ŀ
DIRECTOR, COMPUTER CENTER	C	· 1	'n
AFFIRM ACTION/EQUAL	0	e	ŷ
STAFF LEGAL OFFICER	Q	Ċ I	r~
DIR/DEAN OF ADMISSIONS	Ð	m	ę
DIR, FINANCIAL AID	o	21	T-s

MODEL.
MINTZBERG
SORT:
OF Q
RESULTS

### TECHNOCRATIC FIELD

<u>TTT.E</u>	ACADEMIC	SUPPORI	TECHNOCRATIC
DIR, STUD, HOUSING	ο	-1	11-
DIR, ALTMNI AFFAIRS	υ	en N	r
DIR, EDUC. MEDIA SERVICES	U	<u>01</u>	£ 1.
ASSOC/ASST_COMPTROLITER	۵	C	đ
ASSOC/ASST DIR. OF DEVELOPMENT	0	9	£
COMPTROLLER	υ	D	æ
DIRECTOR, PERSONNEL SERVICES	0	¢1	F~
DIRECTOR, INFO, SYS./INST. RES	0	0	œ
DIRECTOR OF ATHLETICS	¢1	Ļ1	ы
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR ATHLETICS	c I	21	ſŗ
REGISTRAR	0	m	۰ <b>£</b> :
DIRECTOR, SCIENTIFIC LAB	0	εı	۲~
DEAN OF ADMINISTRATION	С	-1	۰Ĥ
ASSOC/ASST DIR FINANCIAL AID	0	-7	Ú

APPENDIX C

Q SORT RESULTS FOR CUPA MODEL.

MODEL.
CUPA
Q SORT:
20 10
RESULTS

ACADEMIC FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
CHIEF ACAD. OFFICER (PROVOST)	D,	0	C	0
ASSOCIATE ACADEMIC OFFICER	J.	c	0	0
ASSISTANT ACAD. VICE PRESIDENT	a,	C	0	c
DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	σ	0	0	0
DEAN - A&S ARTS & LETTERS	σ	0	0	o
DEAN - BUSINESS	<i>σ</i> .	c	¢	¢
DEAN - CONTINUING EDUCATION	Φ	Ð	0	0
DEAN - EDUCATION	φ	o	C	c
DEAN - ENGINEERING	æ		0	σ
DEAN - FINE ARTS	6	0	0	Э
DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAM	œ		С	0
DEAN - HEALTH RELATED	σ	0	C	C
DEAN - HOME ECON	σ	0	c	o
DEAN - LAW	6	C	C	C

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINI STRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
DEAN - MEDICINE	æ	0	C	0
DEAN - NURSING	6	Ū	C	C
DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	σ	0	o	o
DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	Ś	:т	0	0
DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	σ	0	0	0
DEAN - VETERINARY MEDICINE	σ	0	C	c
DEAN - OTHER	б	0	С	0
ASSOC DEAN - AGRICULTURE	Đ	Γî	U	0
ASSOC DEAN - A&S	ις.	-	0	С
ASSOC DEAN - BUSINESS	Ψ	'n	0	o
ASSOC DEAN - CONTINUING ED.	Ś	÷	0	С
ASSOC DEAN - EDUCATION	÷C	'n	0	C
ASSOC DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	Q	9	0	0
ASSOC DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	9	m	0	D

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
ASSOC DEAN - OTHER	Ъ.	~	0	0
ASST DEAN - AGRICULIURE	¢	m	0	0
ASST DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	Q	۳.	С	Û
ASST DEAN - AAS	ŝ		O	0
ASST DEAN + BUSINESS	ç	μ	0	0
ASST DEAN - CONTINUING ED.	÷	ę	c	С
ASST DEAN - DENTISTRY	ቀ	ŗ	0	C
ASST DEAN - EDUCATION	¢	ć	O	0
ASST DEAN - ENGINEERING	Q	m	C	c
ASST DEAN - HEALTH	ŷ	'n	0	0
ASST DEAN - LAW	Q	m	0	Ċ
ASST DEAN - NURSING	Ģ	Ċ	o	C
ASST DEAN - SOCIAL WORK	ĥ	m	o	¢
ASST DEAN - OTHER	Ģ	m	0	С

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

ACADEMIC FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	<u>EXTERNAL</u>	<u>S TUDENT</u>
ASSISTANT TO DEAN	'n	~†	o	ο
CHIEF EXEC. OFFICER	ę	C I	Ö	_
CHIEF EXEX. OFFICER (SYSTEM)	æ	C	C	П
DEAN - AGRICULTURE	б	o	С	Ō
DEAN - DENTISIRY	σ	¢	C	O
DEAN - ENGINEERING	œ	-	С	0
DEAN - EVENING DIVISION	Ľs.	ы	c	o
DEAN - EXTENSION	r-	51	0	o
DEAN - JOURNALISM	σ	0	C	ο
DEAN - MUSIC	σ	O	0	0
DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	φ	ſ	0	ç
DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	ъ,	C	0	0
DEAN - PHARMACY	σ	0	c	0
DEAN - PHYSICAL EDUCATION	ō,	C	0	0

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

ACADEMIC FIELD

	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
DEAN - PUBILC HEALTH	5	O	0	C
DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUCATION	<b>5</b>	0	0	G
ASSOC DEAN - ARCHITECTURE	ņ	m	ŋ	C
ASSOC DEAN - DENTISTRY	Ŷ	m	0	C
ASSOC DEAN - ENCINEERING	9	m	C	G
ASSOC DEAN - EXTENSION	ç	m	o	C
ASSOC DEAN - FINE ARTS	Ģ	÷	C	c
ASSOC DEAN - GRADLAIE PROGRAMS	9	m	C	0
ASSOC DEAN - HEALTH RELATED	ę	m	o	0
ASSOC DEAN - HOME ECONOMICS	9	m	Ċ	a
ASSOC DEAN - JOURNAL	Ŷ	m	c	a
ASSOC DEAN - LAB SCHOOL	÷	~	G	0
ASSOC DEAN + LAW	ç	Ś	٥	0
ASSOC DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	ç	m	0	С

RESULTS OF C SORT: CUPA MODEL

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
ASSOC DEAN - MEDICINE	Ą	m	0	0
ASSOC DEAN - MUSIC	ō	m	o	O
ASSOC DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	ýc	c	٥	0
ASSOC DEAN - NURSING	÷¢	ę۰۰	IJ	ο
ASSUC DEAN - PHARMACY	÷	er:	o	o
ASSOC DEAN - PHYSICAL ED.	Ģ	:1	C	C
ASSOC DEAN - PUBLIC HEALTH	a,	'n	Q	C
ASSOC DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	Q	m	C	C
ASSOC DEAN - VETERINARY SCIENCE	JC	E	0	C
ASSOC DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUC.	÷	ņ	Ð	Ð
ASST DEAN - FINE ARTS	o.	~	0	0
ASST DEAN - GRADUATE PROGRAMS	¢	3	0	0
ASST DEAN - HOME ECONOMICS	ŝ	m	0	С
ASST DEAN - JOURNALISM	Q	m	0	0

MODEL
CUPA
ኒ SORT:
RESULTS OF

### ACADEMIC FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	<u>EXTERNAL</u>	STUDENT
ASST DEAN - LIBRARY SCIENCE	ŝ	ň	IJ	o
ASST DEAN - MEDICINE	a.	ŗ	c	C
ASST DEAN - MUSIC	ڡ	: <b>1</b>	0	0
ASST DEAN - NATURAL RESOURCES	ъ	c	C	C
ASST DEAN - PHARMACY	ъ.	C	C	Э
ASST DEAN - PHYSICAL EDUCATION	¢	÷	С	С
ASST DEAN - PUBLIC HEALTH	ŝ	n	0	Ċ
ASST DEAN - TECHNOLOGY	¢	гĴ	0	0
ASST DEAN - VETERINARY SCIENCE	Q	гĴ	0	С
ASST DEAN - VOCATIONAL EDUC.	Q,	m	0	Ü

•

## RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

## ADMINISTRATIVE FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
DIRECTOR, SCIENTIFIC LAB	ç.	۲~	0	Э
DEAN OF ADMINISIRATION	0	31	0	G
ASSOC/ASST DIR FINANCIAL AID	Q	rs.	e1	o

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

## ADMINISTRATIVE FIELD

TTTLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
DIR, EDUC. MEMIA SERVICES	m	÷	0	o
STAFF OTHER - MEDICINE	0	÷t	÷	0
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR ADMISSIONS	0	1.	<b>F</b> 1	С
ASSOC/ASSI COMPTROLLER	0	æ	C	Ü
ASST DEAN - EVENING DIVISION	-1	10	0	0
ASST DEAN - EXTENSION	·1	'n	Q	C
ASST DEAN - SPECIAL SESSION	†	Ŋ	o	C
COMPTROLLER	١	œ	٥	D
DIRECTOR, PERSONNEL SERVICES	1.4	÷	Ο	o
DIRECTOR, INFO. SYS./INST. RES	-	œ	0	0
DIRECTOR OF ATHLETICS	61	'n	0	1
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR ATHLETICS	c-1	Ŋ	c	1
DIRECTOR, COMMUNITY SERVICES	c	Φ	0	ň
<b>REGISTRAR</b>	0	t's	61	Ο

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

## ADMINISTRATIVE FIELD

TITE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXTERNAL	STUDENT
CHIEF EXEC, VICE PRESIDENT	Ċ	æ	0	0
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER	0	δ	С	D
ASSISTANT TO THE PRESIDENT	0	đ,	Ð	0
ASST TO CHIEF ACAD. UFFICER	m	ъ	Q	C
DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH	<b>64</b>	r	0	C
DIRECTOR OF LIBRARIES	61	rs.	C	0
CHIEF BUSINESS OFFICER	0	ъ	0	G
CHIEF BUDGET OFFICER	~1	1%	C	o
DIRECTOR, COMPUTER CENTER	- 4	a;	o	0
AFFIRM ACTION/EQUAL	1	зO	o	0
STAFF LEGAL OFFICER	C	1	c	۲.
DIR/DEAN OF ADMISSIONS	С	Ts.	C1	ο
DIR, FINANCIAL ALD	o	<u>,                                    </u>	¢1	0
DIR, STUD. HOUSING	0	ŗ	3	U

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

STUDENT SUPPORT FLELD

<u>TITLE</u>	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	<u>EXTERNAL</u>	STUDENT	
CHIEF STU. LIFE OFF.	0	O	5	Ð	-
ASST TO CHIEF STUDENT LIFE OFFICER	0	0	с <sup>у</sup>	0	Ι
DEAN OF STUDENTS	0	Q	۰Ţ,	0	
ASSOCIATE DEAN OF STUDENTS	0	-	<b>उ</b> ः)	c	
ASSISTANT DEAN OF STUDENTS	0	ο	თ	0	1
DIRECTOR, STUDENT PLACEMENT	C	01	15	C	1
DIR, STUD COUNSELING	0	Ċ	Ч.	¢	_
STUDENT LIFE OFFICER - OTHER	Ð	¢	съ	С	_
DEAN OF WOMEN	c 1	Ģ	r	0	0
DEAN OF MEN	1	o	e4	c	0
ASSOC/ASST DIR OF PLACEMENT	Q	ï٦	φ	Ð	٥
ASSOC/ASST DIRECTOR OF HOUSING	0	t~	ī	С	C

168

RESULTS OF Q SORT: CUPA MODEL

EXTERNAL FIELD

TITLE	ACADEMIC	ADMINISTRATIVE	ENTERNAL	STUDENI
CHIEF DEVELOPMENT OFFICER	0	0	С	ტ
CHIEF PUBLIC RELATIONS	C	С	С	ო
DIRECTOR, INFORMATION OFFICE	С	C	0	б
DIR, ALUMNI AFFAIRS	0		с	œ
ASSOC/ASST DIR. OF DEVELOPMENT	0	61	0	P
STAFF OTHER - DEVELOPMENT	c	9	0	Ŷ

#### REFERENCES

- Atwell, R. and Green, M. (Eds.), Academic Leaders as Managers New Directions for Higher Education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1981.
- Balderston, F.E. Managing Today's University. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1975.
- Bess, J. and Lodahl, T. Career Patterns and Satisfactions in University Middle Management. Educational Record, Spring, 1979, v. 50, pp. 220-229.
- Bolman, F. deW. How College Presidents are Chosen. Washington, D.C.: American Council on Education, 1965.
- Borg, W. and Gall, M. Educational Research, Fourth Edition. New York: Longman, Inc., 1983.
- Brooks, G and Avila, J. The Chief Student Personnel Administrator and His Staff: A Profile. NASPA Journal, v.11, 1974.
- The Carnegie Council on Policy Studies in Higher Education. More Than Survival: Prospects for Higher Education in a Period of Uncertainty, 1980.
- Cohen, M. and March, J. Leadership and Ambiguity: The American College President. New York: McGraw~Hill, 1974.

- Corson, John J. Governance of Colleges and Universities. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1960.
- Demerath, N.J., Stephens, R.W., and Taylor, R.R. Power, Presidents and Professors. New York: Basic Books, 1967.
- Dilman, D. Mail and Telephone Surveys: The Total Design Method. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1978.
- Ferrari, M. Profiles of American College Presidents. Michigan State University Business School, 1970.
- Frances, C. and Mensel, R. Women and Minorities in Administration of Higher Education Institutions. Journal of College and University Personnel Association, v.32, #3, pp. 1-77, 1981.
- Gaff, S., Festa, C., and Gaff, J. Professional Development. Change Magazine Press, 1978.
- Gerstenberger, D. Women and the Strange Profession of Academic Administration. National Forum: Phi Kappa Phi Journal, V. 61, #4, Fall, 1981, pp. 31-36.
- Harter, C., Moden, G, and Wilson, P. Women and Minority Professional Staff in Student Personnel: A Census and Analysis. NASPA Journal, v. 20, #2, pp. 42-50, 1982.
- Hauser, J. and Lazarsfeld, P. The Admissions Officer in the American College: An Occupation Under Change. Columbia University, New york: CEEB,1964.

- Holmes, D. Exploring Career Patterns in Student Affairs: Problems of Conception and Methodology. NASPA Journal, v. 20, #2, pp. 27-35, 1982.
- Hutchinson, J. Demographic Changes in Administrative Appointees. Journal of College and University Personnel Association, v. 31, #2, Summer, 1980, pp. 30-36.
- Ikenberry, S. The Organizational Dilemma. Journal of Higher Education. v. 42, pp.23-24.
- Ingraham, M. The Mirror of Brass: The Compensation and Working Conditions of College and University Administrators. Madison, Wisconsin: The University of Wisconsin Press, 1968.
- Jencks, C. and Riesman, D. The Academic Revolution. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1969.
- Kerlinger, F. Foundations of Behavioral Research. Second Edition. New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, Inc., 1973.
- Mayhew, L. Legacy of the Seventies. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1977.
- Millett, J. Higher Education Management Versus Business Management. Educational Record. v. 56, #4, Fall, 1975, pp. 221-225.
- Mintzberg, H. The Structuring of Organizations. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1979.

Moore, K. M. Examining the Myths of Administrative Careers. AAHE Bulletin. May, 1983, pp. 3-7.

- Moore, K. M., Salimbene, A. M., Marlier, J. D., and Bragg, S. M. The Structure of Presidents' and Deans' Careers. Journal of Higher Education. v. 54, #5, Sept./Oct. 1983, pp.500-515.
- Moore, K. M. and Sagaria, M. A. D. Differential Job Change and Stability Among Administrators. Journal of Higher Education. v. 53, 1982, pp. 501-513.
- Mortimer, K. P. and Tierney, M. L. The Three R's of the Eighties: Reduction, Reallocation, and Retrenchment. AAHE/ERIC Monograph, 1979.
- Muzzin, L. J. and Tracz, G. S. Characteristics and Careers of Canadian University Presidents." Higher Education. v. 10, #3, 1981, pp. 335-351.
- Palmer, W. and Hoover, R. Chief Student Personnel Administrators: A Decade of Change. NASPA Journal. v. 18, #1, 1980.
- Sagaria, M. A. D. Men and Women Senior Academic Administrators: A Study of Selected Factors Contributing to Perceived Power of Individuals in Colleges and Universities. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University, 1982.
- Sagaria, M. A. D. A Profile of College and University Administrators in Virginia. Virginia Social

Science Journal. v. 18, 1983a, pp. 36-41.

- Sagaria, M. A. D. Academic Staff Job Change: Winning Characteristics in Organizational Musical Chairs. Mimeographed paper. School of Education, The College of William and Mary, 1983.
- Sagaria, M. A. D. and Moore, X. M. Administrator Job Change and Age: An Efficiencey Motivation Perspective. Unpublished paper presented at the AERA Conference, 1981.
- Salimbene, A. M. Pathways to the Presidency: An Examination of the Careers of Current College and University Chief Executives. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University, 1982.
- Scott, R. The "Amateur" Dean in a Complex University: An Essay on Role Ambiguity. Liberal Education. v. 65, #4, 1979a, pp. 445-452.
- Scott, R. Lords, Squires and Yeomen: Collegiate Middle Managers and Their Organizations. AAHS-ERIC ED 165 641. 1978.
- Scott, R. Middle Level Administration in a Period of Retrenchment. AAHE-ERIC. ED 134 068. 1977.
- Scott, R. Robots or Reinsmen: Job Opportunities and Professional Standing for Collegiate Administrators in the 1980's. Current Issues in Higher Education. AAHE-ERIC. ED 194 003, 1979.

- Scott, R. Uncertain Loyalists: A Brief Look at Role Conflicts Among Collegiate Middle-Managers. Washington, D.C.: AAHS-ERIC/Higher Education Research Report, 1978a. (ED 156 105).
- Schein, E. The Individual, the Organization and the Career: A Conceptual Scheme. Journal of Applied Behavioral Research. v. 7, #4, 1971, pp. 401-426.
- Socolow, D. J. How Administrators Get Their Jobs. Change. May, 1978. pp. 42-43,54.
- Spilerman, S. Career Labor Market Structures and Socioeconomic Achievement, American Journal of Sociology. v. 83, # 3, pp. 551-593.
- Stewart, J. Understanding Women in Organizations: Toward a Reconstruction of Organizational Theory. Administrative Science Quarterly. v.23, 1978, pp. 336-349.
- Touchton, J. and Shavlik, D. Challenging the Assumptions of Leadership: Women and Men of the Academy. Developing and Evaluating Administrative Leadership, New Directions for Higher Education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1978.
- Van Alstyne, C., Mensel, R., Withers, J., and Mallott, F. Special Supplement: 1975-76 Administrative Compensation Survey, Women and Minorities in Administration of Higher Education Institutions, Employment Patterns and Salary Comparisons.

College and University Personnel Association, June, 1977.

Warren, L. A Study of the President of Four-year Colleges in the U.S. Education. v. 58, March, 1938, pp. 427-428.

#### <u>Vița</u>

#### Hugh C. Rowland

Birthdate: May 7, 1951

Birthplace: Lynchburg, Virginia

#### Education:

- 1982-1987 The College of William and Mary Williamsburg, Virginia Doctor of Education, Higher Education Program
- 1978-1982 The College of William and Mary Williamsburg, Virginia Certificate of Advanced Graduate Study in Education, Higher Education Program
- 1973-1976 The University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia Master of Arts in Government
- 1969-1973 The University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia Bachelor of Arts in Government

#### ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to determine whether career patterns of collegiate administrators could be explained in terms of existing organizational models of academic institutions.

The study involved a secondary analysis of data collected in the summer of 1981 in a statewide survey of collegiate administrators. The target population cosisted of all the middle level administrators (N=617) at the director level or above from thirty-three statesupported and independent colleges and universities from the Commonwealth of Virginia. A strict adherence to the Dillman "total design method" resulted in a response rate of 76.5 percent.

Previous studies which had employed the narrow concept of career ladder had generally found career patterns in collegiate administration to be less defined than in industry or the military. To address the inadequacy of the career ladder concept, a broader concept, "career field" was introduced in this study. Three organizational models were chosen and the subdivisions of each were defined as career fields. Administrator titles were assigned to each career field of each of the three models by a panel of experts employing a Q-Sort technique. The results of this research show that, when all career positions are included, positions held by respondents prior to entering collegiate administration tend to mask existent career patterns.

For academic administrators, most of their preadministrator positions had been in teaching faculty or higher education related roles. The study confirmed that the academic administrator career field continues to be quite different due to its inextricable link to professorial career patterns. The study also found that among non-academic administrators, patterns of preadministrator positions varied by the career fields of each model.

Among academic and non-academic administrators alike, there was little evidence of people leaving administration and then returning.

A significant but unexpected finding of the study was that many administrators carry on other career pursuits concomitantly. Previous career research may have been distorted by concomitant positions as well as pre-administrator positions. This finding points to the need for better definitions and stricter composition of career research instruments.